

Performance analysis, techno-economic assessment, and optimization of Grid Connected PV (GCPV) system for commercial building

Saleheen Mohammed Zeehan

A thesis submitted for the degree of Master of Engineering Science (Research) at Monash University Malaysia in 2020 School of Engineering

Copyright notice

© Saleheen Mohammed Zeehan (2020).

I certify that I have made all reasonable efforts to secure copyright permissions for third-party content included in this thesis and have not knowingly added copyright content to my work without the owner's permission.

Abstract

Commercial buildings consume about 48% of total generated electricity in Malaysia. Since most of the buildings adhere to commercial electricity tariffs, including the Monash Malaysia campus, building owners have to pay high electricity bills because of the maximum demand (MD). Moreover, the electricity supply in Malaysia majorly comes from fossil fuel-based power plants that further elevates the problem of carbon emissions that is not sustainable in the long term. Therefore, the Monash Malaysia campus has made an effort to reduce both the MD and carbon emissions by implementing an impactful solution of installing the Grid-Connected PV (GCPV) system on the buildings' rooftop, a journey towards a sustainable campus. Recently, the Monash Malaysia campus, in the first phase of the project, installed a 232.5 kWp GCPV plant on the rooftop of building B6. However, no performance analysis of this GCPV system has been done since its installation. In the second phase of the project, Monash Malaysia campus intends to expand and install more GCPV on other buildings' rooftops. However, management would like to have a techno-economic feasibility study prior to the implementation of the project. The main objectives of this research work are to carry out the target-oriented based performance analysis (according to Malaysian standard MS-IEC) of the existing 232.5 kWp installed GCPV system and to perform the techno-economic analysis of an extended GCPV system using HOMER Grid commercial software. The necessary load data of the building were collected from the facility management department of campus. The meteorological data were obtained from installed sensors with the GCPV system. The GCPV output data (for one the whole year 2019) was collected from a solar data logger that monitored and stored data at an interval of every 5 minutes interval. The solar irradiation and ambient temperature of the site (Monash Malaysia campus) fluctuate from 3 to 5 kWh/m²/year and 28 to 31 °C. The maximum PV module operating temperature of the GCPV system was 73 °C recorded in March. The GCPV system generated about 301.5 MWh of energy in 2019 that almost achieved the set target of 305.0 MWh. The Performance Ratio (PR), Capacity Utilization Factor (CUF), system efficiency, and Levelized Cost of Energy (LCOE) of Monash Malaysia GCPV plant was found to be 85.4%, 14.85%, 9.15%, and 0.396 RM/kWh, respectively. Interestingly, the PR of the present GCPV system was higher than other surveyed GCPV systems. A strong correlation between solar irradiation and AC yield and module temperature and AC power was observed using a statistical method, and a model was developed that can predict the output at a 5% level of significance. Approximately 177 metric tons of CO₂ emission is avoided over one year after installing the GCPV system. These findings would bring confidence in senior management and other stakeholders on how the GCPV installation performs with the set target. The techno-economic feasibility study was implemented on the highest electricity consumption building B3 (occupies School of Medicine and Health Sciences) and the lowest

electricity consumption building B7 (library). Depending on the input parameters, HOMER Grid simulated the options and recommended 866 kWp and 396 kWp as the optimal GCPV capacity for B3 and B7, respectively. At this capacity, the total net present cost (NPC), COE, and initial capital cost for building B3 are RM 12.1 million, 0.357 RM/kWh and RM 1.16 million, respectively. Whereas for building B7 it is RM 4.6 million, 0.373 RM/kWh, and RM 2.51 million, respectively. This capacity was enough to reduce the MD of the buildings significantly. However, according to the architectural constraint design, the rooftop area available on the buildings may not be enough to install the said capacity. Alternatively, a smaller capacity of the GCPV system has to be installed that would alter the techno-economic results. Overall, there is a high potential and feasibility to reduce the MD and carbon emissions by installing the GCPV on the rooftop of Monash campus buildings that can fulfill the sustainable development goals.

Declaration

This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at any university or equivalent institution and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference is made in the text of the thesis.

Signature:

Print Name: Mohammed Zeehan Saleheen

Date: 30/10/2020

Publications

- Mohammed Zeehan Saleheen, Arshad Adam Salema, Shah Mohammad Mominul Islam, Charles Raymond Sarimuthu "Target-oriented performanceanalysis of a 232.5 kWP gridconnected solar PV system for a commercialbuilding in Malaysia", Energy for sustainable development. Q2, IF – 3.610 (Under Review)
- Mohammed Zeehan Saleheen, Arshad Adam Salema, Charles Raymond Sarimuthu "Technoeconomic analysis of a grid-connected commercial photovoltaic system for different buildings at Monash University, Malaysia using HOMER Grid." Energy. Q1, IF – 5.5 (Under submission)

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, praise to the Almighty Allah (SWT), for His showers of blessings throughout my research candidature.

I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my research supervisor, Dr. Arshad Salema, for giving me the opportunity to do research and providing invaluable guidance throughout my master's research candidature. It was a great privilege and honor to work and study under his supervision. I am extremely grateful for what he has done for me from the beginning of my candidature. Without his help I could never cross this research path alone.

I am extremely grateful to my family for their love, prayers, caring and sacrifices for making me prepare for my future. Specially to my mother and my wife, who support me relentlessly throughout the period of my research.

I would also like to thank my co-supervisor Dr. Charles Raymond for his genuine support throughout my research work.

I thank Monash University Malaysia for the tuition fee waiver without which I could not carry out my research and complete this degree. Special thanks to School of engineering for their administrative support. Finally, my thanks go to all the people who have supported me to complete the research work directly or indirectly.

Saleheen Mohammed Zeehan

Table of Contents

Title1
Copyright notice
Declaration5
Acknowledgements
Table of Contents 8
List of Tables
List of Figures
List of Abbreviations
List of Symbols15
Chapter 1 Introduction16
1.1 Background16
1.2 Motivation
1.3 Solar energy
1.4 Problem statement and research questions
1.5 Research objectives and scopes
1.6 Thesis structure and organization24
Chapter 2 Literature review
2.1 Energy and electricity consumption in Malaysia25
2.2 Commercial building electricity usage and electricity tariff in Malaysia
2.3 Solar energy status in Malaysia and application of GCPV system
2.4 Performance analysis of grid-connected PV system (GCPV)
2.4.1 Performance Ratio (PR)
2.4.2 Capacity utilization factor (CUF)
2.5 Techno-economic analysis of grid connected PV system (GCPV) using HOMER36
Chapter 3 Methodology
3.1 Site Characteristics and existing PV system description
3.2 Data Collection41

3.3	Meteoro	logical data	.41
3.4	Electricit	y load data	.43
	3.4.1	Load data for building with the highest load	.44
	3.4.2	Load data for building with the lowest load	.45
3.5	Mathema	atical methodology for the performance analysis of existing GCPV system	.46
	3.5.1	Yield	.46
	3.5.2	Performance ratio (PR)	.47
	3.5.3	Capacity utilization factor (CUF)	.47
	3.5.4	System efficiency	.48
	3.5.5	Loss analysis	.48
	3.5.6	Economic analysis	.48
	3.5.7	Environmental analysis	.48
3.6	Techno-e	economic assessment for an extended GCPV system using HOMER Grid	.49
	3.6.1	Technical parameters	.50
	3.6.2	Economic parameters	.51
3.7	Environr	nental assessment	.52
3.8	Methodo	logy for architectural constraint based on the SEDA standards	.53
Chapter 4	Result	and discussions	.55
4.1.	Target of	riented performance analysis of 232.5 kWp GCPV system	.55
	4.1.1	Yield analysis	.55
	4.1.2	PR, CUF, and system efficiency	.57
	4.1.3	System loss and array capture loss	.59
	4.1.4	Statistical analysis on the effect of various parameters on PV output	.60
	4.1.5	Economic Analysis	.62
	4.1.6	Environmental Analysis	.63
	4.1.7	Comparison of Monash GCPV with other GCPV systems in the world	.64
4.2	Techno-	economic analysis of proposed Monash GCPV system using HOMER Grid	.65
	4.2.1	MD reduction for B3 and B7	.65

	4.2.2	Architectural constraint	70
Chapter	5 Conch	usion and future recommendations	72
5.1	Main co	onclusions	.72
5.2	Future	recommendations	73
Referenc	es		75

List of Tables

- Table 2.1
 Consumption tariff rates for commercial users
- Table 2.2
 Comparison between GCPV system and single renewable or conventional system
- Table 2.3
 Summarized literature review of using HOMER on commercial building
- Table 3.1
 Physical and technical specification of the Monash Malaysia campus GCPV system
- Table 4.1
 Comparison of GCPV performance from different regions of the world
- Table 4.2Ranking of different combinations simulated in HOMER Grid (B3)
- Table 4.3Ranking of different combinations simulated in HOMER Grid (B7)
- Table 4.4Comparison between the current grid system and proposed system (B3 and B7).
- Table 4.5Total no. of solar PV can be installed on the Monash campus building rooftop as per
the architectural constraint

List of Figures

- Fig.1.1. Global a) electricity consumption during 1990–2016 [1]; b) World's total electricity demand and growth rates, 2010–2050
- Fig.1.2. World electricity consumption by sector
- Fig.1.3. (a) Electricity consumption of Malaysia between 2010-2016 [5], (b) Electricity consumption by sector in Malaysia, 2016
- Fig.1.4. Global GHG and CO2 emission by sector
- Fig.1.5. Electricity generation sources in Malaysia (2000-2018)
- Fig.1.6. Global installed PV capacity forecast
- Fig.1.7. Electricity generation by GCPV system
- Fig.1.8. GCPV system installed on the rooftop of Malaysian commercial building
- Fig.2.1. Malaysian energy supply by source (1978-2015)
- Fig.2.2. Fuel consumption in electricity generation, 2016
- Fig.2.3. Electricity consumption (by usage) in a typical commercial building
- Fig.2.4. Regular electricity tariff (based on kWh) rates in ASEAN countries
- Fig.2.5. Monthly and average PR over monitored period of a study in India
- Fig.2.6. Performance analysis after 7 years of operation in Oman
- Fig.2.7. Performance ratio of the PV plants at different places of the world
- Fig.2.8. CUF of a PV plant at Kuantan Airport, Malaysia
- Fig.2.9. Comparison of final energy yield in several sites.
- Fig.3.1. Architectural design and satellite view of Monash University Malaysia
- Fig.3.2. a) Aerial view of the GCPV system installed on the rooftop of Monash campus building, b) Schematic layout of the GCPV modules and inverters connection
- Fig.3.3. Daily solar irradiation (kWh/m²) for the year 2019 in Malaysia
- Fig.3.4. (a) Monthly maximum, minimum and average PV module temperature, and ambient temperature; (b) PSH and wind speed (monthly average) of Monash GCPV site
- Fig.3.5. Monthly electricity consumption of Monash University, Malaysia in 2019
- Fig.3.6. Average daily and seasonal electricity load profile of B3 in 2019

- Fig.3.7. Average hourly MD profile of each month at B3 in 2019
- Fig.3.8. Average daily and seasonal electricity load profile of B7 in 2019
- Fig.3.9. Average hourly MD profile of each month at B7 in 2019
- Fig.3.10. Techno-economic analysis methodology of HOMER Grid
- Fig.3.11. Research methodology flowchart
- Fig.4.1. Monthly solar yield production of the Monash GCPV system in 2019
- Fig.4.2. Solar yield production of Monash GCPV system in (a) March 2019 and (b) December 2019
- Fig.4.3. Daily AC power output of the Monash GCPV system (a) highest in the year 2019 and(b) lowest in the year 2019
- Fig.4.4. Monthly average PR, CUF and system efficiency of Monash GCPV system
- Fig.4.5. System loss and array capture loss of the highest energy produced in a day of each month
- Fig.4.6. Correlation between total AC yield from Monash GCPV and solar irradiation of the location
- Fig.4.7. Correlation between total AC power of Monash GCPV and module temperature
- Fig.4.8. Monthly cost reduction by Monash Malaysia GCPV system.
- Fig.4.9. Layout design of proposed GCPV system of B3
- Fig.4.10. Average hourly MD, a) Before the proposed system, b) After the proposed system of building B3
- Fig.4.11. Layout design of proposed GCPV system of B7
- Fig.4.12. Average hourly MD, a) Before the proposed system, b) After the proposed system of building B7

List of Abbreviations

Capacity utilization factor – CUF C-Si - Crystaline silicon Feed-In Tariff – FiT Green Investment Tax Allowance - GITA Green Income Tax Exemption – GITE Grid-connected solar PV – GCPV Global Horizontal Irradiation - GHI IRENA - International Renewable Energy Agency - IRENA Levelized cost of energy – LCOE Large Scale Solar – LSS Mc-Si - Monocrystalline silicon Net Energy Metering – NEM Off-grid PV system – OGPV Performance ratio – PR P-Si – Polycrystaline silicon Sustainable Energy Development Authority – SEDA Self-Consumption – SLCO STC – Standard Test Conditions IRR – Internal rate of return OECD - Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development MD – Maximum Demand

List of Symbols

 $Y_{mea,AC}$ - Measured AC yield

Y_{mea,DC} - Measured DC yield

- $E_{AC(t)}$ Final AC energy output
- $E_{DC(t)}$ Final DC energy output
- *Y*_{tar} Target Yield
- *Parray STC* Power of PV array at STC
- **PSH**_{poa} Peak sunshine hour
- *k*_{deration_y} Deration factor of energy yield
- η_{cable} Efficiency of DC cable from PV to the inverter
- η_{inv} Inverter efficiency
- **H** Solar Irradiation
- G_o Solar Irradiation under STC
- SY_{mea} Measured specific Yield
- **PR**_{mea} Measure performance ratio
- **PR**tar Target performance ratio
- *CUF* Capacity utilization factor
- η_{sys} System efficiency
- L_S System loss
- L_C Array loss
- *LCOE* Levelized cost of energy
- C_I initial capital cost
- $C_{O\&M}$ Annual operation and maintenance cost
- P_{PV} PV array output
- α_P Temperature coefficient
- η_{inv} Inverter efficiency

- L_{mod} Length of module
- Wroof Width of utilizable area of roof
- *L_{roof}* Length of utilizable area of roof
- **NPC** Net present cost

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Background

Energy is a vital constituent of socio-economic development, and, in particular, electricity has become a necessity for social and industrial activities. Therefore, a continuous increase in electricity demand with global climate change has created significant concern for countries to sustain the economic development. In the past few decades, global electricity consumption has continued to increase at the faster rate, of course due to increasing population and industrial activities. According to the International Energy Agency [1], the world's annual electricity consumption rose from 10901 TWh to 23,106 TWh between 1990 and 2016. With an annual growth rate of 3.1%, electricity demand is expected to go up from 21,400 TWh to 73,000 TWh in 2010–2050 [2], which is shown in Fig. 1.1 (b).



Fig. 1.1. Global a) electricity consumption during 1990–2016 [1]; b) World's total electricity demand and growth rates, 2010–2050 [2]

Simultaneously, electricity consumption has increased drastically in the commercial sectors, specifically in the buildings. Most of the electricity in commercial buildings is consumed by heating and cooling systems, lighting, computers, equipment used in universities, hotels, hospitals, etc. Fig. 1.2 shows that considerable growth in electricity consumption since 1974 has taken place in the commercial and public service sector [3].



Fig. 1.2. World electricity consumption by sector [3]

Electricity consumption varies from one country to another and is dependent on the population growth, Gross Domestic Product (GDP), economic and industrial growth of a nation. For instance, along with the increasing global electricity demand, Malaysia's electricity demand is projected to increase by 4.7 percent per year to reach 274 TWh in 2030 [4]. The growing electricity consumption of Malaysia from 2010 till 2016 is shown in Fig. 1.3 (a) [5]. Comparatively, the population of Malaysia has grown from 28.5 million (year 2010) to 32.0 million (year 2017). While Fig. 1.3 (b) shows the electricity consumed by the different sector in Malaysia. Among these, the commercial sector consumes about 30.8% of the total Malaysian electricity [6]. According to Tenega Nasional Berhad (TNB), a electricity utility company in Malaysia, the commercial entity is defined as a consumer occupying or operating but not limited to office block, Hotels, service apartment, boarding house, retail complex, shop-house, carpark, workshop, restaurant, estate, plantation or farm (except those categories defined in the Specific Agriculture Tariff), port, airport, railway installation, toll plaza, street lightings at tolled highway including its bridges and tunnels, telecommunications installation, broadcasting installation, entertainment/recreation/sports outlet, golf course, school/educational institution, religious and welfare organization, military and government installation, hospital, waste treatment plant, district cooling plant, cold storage, warehouse, any other form of business or commercial activities which are not primarily involved in manufacturing, quarrying or mining activities [https://www.tnb.com.my/commercial-industrial/for-commercial/]. It is clear that the educational premises are under the commercial sector as defined by electricity provider



Fig. 1.3. (a) Electricity consumption of Malaysia between 2010-2016 [5], (b) Electricity consumption by sector in Malaysia, 2016 [6]

1.2 Motivation

As 90% of the human activities are carried out in buildings [7], the building sector has become the largest energy consumer, with 39% of the total global energy consumption [8]. Interestingly, electricity is the most consumed part of the buildings' energy for heating and cooling systems, lighting, and appliances [9]. According to the International Energy Agency, electricity accounted for one-third of building energy use in 2019 [10]. However, it is stated that, among buildings, commercial buildings responsible for around 32% of the final electricity consumption [11]. Researchers from the Preservation Green Lab reported that more than 40% of the commercial sector buildings comprise seven specific commercial building types such as retail, housing, main street, offices, strip malls, and educational institute, and accounts for approximately 680 TWh of energy annually [12].

However, to fulfill these hovering electricity demands, most of the electricity comes from thermal power stations that run on fossil fuels, mainly coal and natural gas. However, fossil fuel resources are limited [13]. Apart from the depletion of fossil fuel resources, the burning of these fossil fuels contributes to the increasing emission of greenhouse gasses (GHGs) including carbon dioxide (CO2) [14]. Emission of these greenhouse gases harms the environment and is one of the main reasons for global warming. Globally, the primary source of GHG emissions are from energy usage, and electricity represents over 31% of this energy, which can be viewed in Fig. 1.4 [15].



Fig. 1.4. (a) Global GHG emission by sector [15], (b) Greenhouse gas emissions by sector, Malaysia, 2016 [16]

The growth of commercial buildings in Malaysia has a great influence on country's development but it has also upsurge the electricity demand [17]. Like other countries in the world, most of Malaysia's electricity is generated from fossil fuels such as coal (45%) and natural gas (40%) [18], which is one of the main contributors to the carbon emissions. Fig. 1.5 shows that thermal power stations (coal and natural gas) are the main source of electricity in Malaysia. Therefore, electricity consumption in commercial buildings of Malaysia entails serious attention to ensure a sustainable future of the country.



Fig. 1.5. Electricity generation sources in Malaysia (2000-2018) [18]

Hence, there is a powerful motivation to generate electricity from clean and renewable sources. Therefore, significant steps have been taken by the Malaysian policymakers to channel the current energy policy towards resource diversity to reduce the reliance on fossil fuels. Renewables such as solar, wind, biomass, and others are explored as an alternative and impactful resource to ensure the energy transformation towards sustainable development in Malaysia. In line with this effort, policy makers has set a goal to increase the contribution of renewable energy to 20% in the electricity mix by 2025, from the present 2% [19]. In view of this, solar energy is contributing greatly to the Malaysian sustainable development. Several business models and framework are developed to increase the solar energy fraction in Malaysia.

1.3 Solar energy

Remarkably, solar PV is at the forefront of this proclivity towards renewables in Malaysia due to the high amount of solar irradiance, ranging from 4.21 kWh/m²/day to 5.56 kWh/m²/day [20]. In addition, solar PV can be readily installed and can generate the power instantly as compared to other renewable energy systems subjected when the solar cells are exposed to sunlight. Besides this, it is considered renewable, environment-friendly (as it does not generate emissions while operation), the source (sun) is freely available, and almost everywhere [21]. The solar cells transform the sunlight into electricity that are connected in a solar panel or module. This solar cells are made up of semiconductor material, causing electron excitation [22]. Typically, solar PV generates DC power, which is then converted to AC for satisfying the load demand. It is estimated that PV modules installed on 4% of the world's desert area will fulfill the global current energy consumption [23]. According to IRENA, globally installed capacity for PV has reached 480.3 GW at the end of 2018. With around 274.6 GW installation, Asia holds the largest share of PV installation. According to Global Data's recent report, solar PV installation is expected to reach 969 GW within 2025 as shown in Fig. 1.6 while it is estimated to provide 30% of the world's energy demand by 2050 [24].



Fig.1.6. Global installed PV capacity forecast [25]

Solar PV systems are usually operated as a grid-connected (tied to grid) or off-grid (standalone) system [26]. Off-grid PV (OGPV) systems are operated without connection to the local grid. This

system is beneficial in remote areas that are usually isolated from the power distribution network and is mainly used for self-consumption. This system also needs energy storage system such as battery banks and a backup system in form of generator due to unpredicted nature of sun and weather conditions in case when solar irradiation is unavailable or night time operation. On the other hand, the GCPV system is one of the fastest-growing PV technology designed to operate along with the utility power grid [27], which is expected to become a promising energy solution for maximum demand (MD) shaving worldwide. The mechanism of the GCPV system is shown in Fig. 1.7. Generally, energy storage is avoided in this type of system and grid itself can work as charge storage. Therefore, this system are comparatively less expensive than OGPV or standalone system because energy storage is expensive component.



Fig.1.7. Schematic of GCPV system [28]

Due to the almost 100% grid accessibility, the rooftop GCPV systems have gained popularity in Peninsular Malaysia [29] as compared to the off-grid PV (OGPV) systems. The large amount of empty rooftop spaces in the urban areas have high potential and attracted the GCPV system to avoid the unnecessary land use. For example, according to Malaysian Ex-Minister Mrs. Yeo Bee Yin, Ministry of Energy, Science, Technology, Environment and Climate Change, there are over 4.12 million buildings with solar rooftop potential in the peninsular (West Malaysia) that can generate about 34 GW of electricity if they are fitted with solar PV systems. Therefore, to accelerate and promote the nationwide rooftop solar PV installation, Sustainable Energy Development Authority (SEDA), Malaysia has introduced various programs and incentives, such as; Net Energy Metering (NEM), Feed-In Tariff (FiT), Large Scale Solar (LSS), Self-Consumption (SLCO), Green Investment Tax Allowance (GITA), Green Income Tax Exemption (GITE), and Renewable Energy certification. However, the installation is based on the quota system. Driven by the implementation of these government-initiated incentives, a large number of rooftop GCPV systems of 1 kW to a few thousand MWs for the commercial sector have been installed all over the country as shown in Fig. 1.8. Hence, recently, most research in electricity generation has emphasized the use of the GCPV system [30-40]. However, realistic techno-economic analysis before installing a GCPV system and performance analysis after installing the GCPV systems under actual climate conditions is necessary to anticipate the best economic and environmental outcomes, which is the main motivation of this thesis work.



Fig.1.8. GCPV system installed on the rooftop of Malaysian commercial building [41]

1.4 Problem statement and research questions

Monash University, Malaysia campus buildings falls under the commercial sector and hence the operational cost related to electricity consumption is high due to maximum demand (MD) Campus management has to pay the high cost related to MD (30.3 RM/kW) besides the normal electricity charges in kWh (0.365 RM/kWh). Further, on the environmental aspect, it contributes to high carbon footprint in form of emissions. Therefore, there is an effort to reduce the MD using optimum mix of energy sources with the inclusion of renewable energy to make a sustainable campus. Presently, the colossal electricity demand of the campus buildings is supplied mainly by the utility grid with a small amount of PV contribution (232.5 kWp) installed in November 2018. Since the installation of GCPV system, no performance analysis has been carried out. Another issue is that, Monash is willing to expand and install more GCPV system on the rooftop area of the buildings in the future. However, before such installation a techno-economic data is required for the feasibility of such project to take a decision based on the least cost method.

Based on the introduction and problem description, the research presented in this thesis aims to answer the following primary research question:

- What is the performance of the existing Monash 232.5 kWp GCPV system after its installation?
- 2) Will the GCPV system be technically feasible and economically viable if it is extended to other buildings of the Monash campus?

1.5 Research objectives and scopes

The primary objectives of this research are as follow:

- To evaluate the target-oriented performance analysis of the existing GCPV system of Monash as per MS IEC 61724:2010 developed by the Sustainable Energy Development Authority (SEDA).
- To perform a techno-economic analysis of an extended GCPV system to reduce the MD of the Monash University, Malaysia buildings using commercial HOMER Grid software.

Following the research objectives, the dissertation's scopes are briefly listed below:

Based on objective 1: The performance of the current 232 kWp GCPV system will be carried out as per the per national Malaysian standard (MS IEC 61724:2010) and international standards. The parameters to be evaluated consists of yield, performance ratio, capacity factor, system losses, economic (cost saved) and environmental (CO2 emission offset) analysis. The performance will be evaluated with the set-target (calculated based on the solar irradiation data). The scope is further extended to develop a model based on the solar irradiation, module temperature and output power generated from GCPV system. The model is supported with statistical analysis.

Based on objective 2: The techno-economic feasibility study on the buildings that has potential to reduce the MD will be carried out using commercial HOMER Grid software. The technical feasibility of the GCPV system will include whether the modeled system can adequately reduce the MD of the defined building (two buildings were selected one with high energy consumption and other

with low consumption). For this, two case study (with and without GCPV) will be analyzed. After examining all GCPV combinations, HOMER will optimize and rank the best option according to the least-cost options that will address the economic viability of the project. These economic parameters are net present cost, cost of energy, operating cost, etc.

1.6 Thesis structure and Organization

The thesis is structured as follows:

Chapter 1 begin with a brief discussion on the background of energy and electricity consumption. Subsequently, research motivation, problem statement and research questions, followed by the research objectives and scopes, will also be summarized in this chapter. Chapter 2 presents detail literature review on the GCPV systems and its application in the commercial buildings. Energy consumption in Malaysia, solar energy, and its Malaysian context will also be presented in this chapter. Literature on performance analysis and techno-economic analysis of the GCPV system using HOMER will also be included in this section. Chapter 3 covers the description of the site, data collection, and analysis method. The mathematical model used for performance analysis will also be described, followed by the in-detail discussion of methodology of techno-economic analysis done using HOMER software. Chapter 4 shows the results and discussion of the target-oriented performance analysis of the 232 kWp GCPV system of Monash University, Malaysia. In this result, the Monash GCPV system will be compared with other GCPV systems around the world. Further, a detailed techno-economic analysis of an extended GCPV system for specific buildings of Monash Malaysia campus will be presented in this section. Techno-economic analysis according to architectural constraint will also be included in this section. Finally, Chapter 5 summarizes the research work and provides future recommendations.

Chapter 2

Literature review

2.1 Energy and electricity consumption in Malaysia

Malaysia is a developing non-OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development) country. Malaysia's primary energy supply has increased continuously over the last decade. Malaysia's energy demand is expected to reach 146.7 Mtoe in 2030, with an annual growth rate of 3.5% [15]. The primary energy supply of Malaysia by source between 1978 till 2015 is shown in Fig 2.1 [42].



Fig. 2.1. Malaysian energy supply by source (1978-2015) [42]

Generation of electricity consumes most of Malaysian energy, about 45.6% of total end-use energy consumption [43]. Currently, Malaysia's total installed capacity is 24 GW [44]. Natural gas and coal are the primary source of electricity in Malaysia as shown in Fig. 2.2 [42]. Although there are enough natural gas reserves in Malaysia, their exhaustion is inescapable. At present depletion rate, reserves are predicted to last for 39 more years [45]. Therefore, renewable energies become increasingly popular in Malaysia.



Fig. 2.2. Fuel consumption in electricity generation, 2016 [42]

2.2 Commercial building electricity usage and electricity tariff in Malaysia

Building sector consumes high amount of energy in Malaysia, and the maximum of it is attributed to electricity usage in commercial buildings [46]. Specifically, buildings in Malaysia consume about 48% of the country's total electricity [47]. Due to this high demand, the electricity rate increases in peak time, and commercial building owners have to pay a high electricity consumption cost. Usually most of this high demand is attributed to space cooling, lighting, and other official usage [48], as illustrated in Fig. 2.3. Under Malaysia's current electricity tariff, commercial consumers must pay the maximum demand (MD) charge apart from the net consumption charges every month, which is typically 20% of the electricity bill [49].



Fig. 2.3. Electricity consumption (by usage) in a typical commercial building [48]

MD is the highest level of electrical demand monitored in a particular period, usually for a month measured in Kilowatt (kW). For any month, MD shall be deemed to be twice the most significant number of kilowatt-hours (kWh) supplied during any consecutive thirty minutes in that month [49]. As Monash Malaysia campus falls under medium voltage general commercial tariff (C1), MD charges

are calculated between 8.00 a.m. and 10.00 p.m., along with the regular kWh rates [49]. Consumption tariff rates for commercial users in Malaysia are shown in Table 2.1.

TARIFF CATEGORY	RATES		
TARIFF B - LOW VOLTAGE COMMERCIAL TARIFF			
For the first 200 kWh (1 -200 kWh) per month	43.5 sen/kWh		
For the next kWh (201 kWh onwards) per month	50.9 sen/kWh		
The minimum monthly charge	RM7.20		
TARIFF C1 - MEDIUM VOLTAGE GENERAL			
COMMERCIAL TARIFF			
For each kilowatt of maximum demand per month	30.3 RM/kW		
For all kWh	36.5 sen/kWh		
The minimum monthly charge	RM600.00		
TARIFF C2 - MEDIUM VOLTAGE PEAK/OFF-PEAK			
COMMERCIAL TARIFF			
For each kilowatt of maximum demand per month	45.1 RM/kW		
For all kWh during the peak period	36.5 sen/kWh		
For all kWh during the off-peak period	22.4sen/kWh		

Table 2.1 Consumption tariff rates for commercial users

Utility tariff rates differ between countries, and even within some countries, it can vary in different districts [50]. In Malaysia, most of the tariffs are designed to support the clients in giving alternative preferences to limit their electricity consumption during peak hours. If we look at the average electricity tariff rates for selected ASEAN countries [51] (Fig. 2.4), it is clear that Malaysian electricity tariff rates are still in the range of affordable rates compared to other countries.



Fig. 2.4. Regular electricity tariff (based on kWh) rates in ASEAN countries [51]

As mentioned earlier, commercial buildings tend to have high energy consumption in the form of electricity due to the heavy use of electrical equipment. Therefore, several researchers have applied different techniques to reduce electricity consumption, ultimately reducing the energy bills and carbon footprints. Alajmi reports that investment in retrofit projects can save up to almost half of the commercial buildings' annual energy consumption [52]. Mbungu et al. [53] found that to minimize the overall electricity consumption of a commercial building, peak clipping is a more effective technique compare to valley-filling and load-shifting. This is because the energy demand's daily peak in a commercial building is typically from late-morning to early-evening. Again, demand-side management offers a dynamic behavior on electricity loads, which permits flexibility on the electrical system that can reduce the electricity consumption cost in commercial buildings [54].

Further, utility companies have introduced several price-based demand response such as timeof-use (TOU), real-time pricing (RTP), and critical-peak pricing (CPP) to encourage lower use of electricity during peak demand hours [55], which eventually will reduce the MD charges. Fakeha et al. [56] reported that synchronized control of building loads (i.e., demand response or DR), solar PV, and storage could substantially reduce commercial buildings' peak electricity consumption. This is because the integration of solar PV with storage system can help to move the building peak demand to off-peak periods.

Likewise, a large and growing body of literature has emphasized the concept of implementing solar PV to reduce energy consumption in commercial buildings [57-66]. In Poland [67], the GCPV system was implemented to reduce office buildings' peak load using different energy prices/tariffs. The results show that solar PV can reduce energy costs and MD irrelevant to the variety of tariffs. It was observed that in the case of that selected office building, the peak load reduction was almost 20%, with an electricity cost reduction of 1.2% up to 5.8%. Darghouth et al. [68] found that in

comparatively high solar-resource, commercial building, day-peaking loads can have demand charge reductions of up to one third. They also argued that in locations with afternoon peak period designs, commercial consumers enjoy higher demand charge savings than residential consumers due to the load profile that matches quite well with PV generation.

2.3 Solar energy status in Malaysia and application of Grid-connected Photovoltaic system

According to the background study, to manage both the future energy demand and reduce the environmental impact [69], renewables such as solar play a vital role in becoming an alternative energy source. Malaysia, as one of the Southeast Asian countries, has taken the pace to increase the capacity of solar PV installation over the last few years. As the country has sunshine almost throughout the year, Malaysia is exceptionally suitable for the deployment of solar energy. The yearly typical quotidian solar irradiations for Malaysia were from 4.21 kWh/m² to 5.56 kWh/m² [20]. To utilize this great natural opportunity, the Malaysian government has been working hard on the development and implementation of green technology, primarily focusing on solar energy. As the electrification rate is almost 100% in Peninsular Malaysia, GCPV systems dominate the market as compared to the OGPV systems [29].

GCPV system is one of the fastest-growing PV technology designed to operate along with the utility power grid [27], which is expected to become a promising energy solution for MD shaving worldwide. Therefore, recently, most electricity generation research has emphasized the use of the GCPV system [30-40]. A comparison between the GCPV system and the single renewable or conventional system is presented in Table 2.2 [70].

Characteristic	Off-grid system (Only	Grid system	GCPV System
	PV)	(without RE)	
Reliance on natural	Extremely high	Autonomous	Fractional
resources			
Investment Cost	Very high	Low	Medium
O & M cost	Low	High	Low
Frequency of	Less frequent	frequent	Less frequent
maintenance			

Table 2.2 Comparison between GCPV system and single renewable or conventional system

Environmental impact	N/A	High	Low
Reliability	Dependent on the	Dependent on	Highly reliable due to
	accessibility of natural	availability of	balancing the nature of
	resources	fossil fuel	the resources

2.4 Performance analysis of Grid-connected Photovoltaic system

Driven by the implementation of the government-initiated incentives, many GCPV systems of 1 kW to a few thousand MWs for the commercial sector have been installed all over the country. These systems have been designed, installed, and commissioned following remunerative techno-economic approaches. However, realistic performance analysis of the installed GCPV systems under actual climate conditions is significant to evaluate the systems' performance as they are anticipated, to know the operational behavior of the GCPV systems in actual outdoor conditions. in order to calculate the economic reduction on total electricity cost, and to assess the environmental contribution. Besides technical specifications and system sizes, GCPV system's performance is site-specific and is depended on factors such as latitude, seasonal variation of solar irradiance, temperature, cloudiness, air pollution, etc. Therefore, an accurate, detailed study of GCPV system performance is a vital benchmark for commercial end customers to make future decisions.

Several researchers have carried out a performance analysis of solar PV installations in the past. In 2019, Sohouane et al. [38] investigated a 28 kWp GCPV system's performance under desertic weather conditions in Algerian Sahara and found that environmental parameters variation has a direct effect on the performance of solar PV. In the same year, Roumpakias et al. [39] analyzed the data of a grid-connected photovoltaic park after six years of operation, where the analysis results showed a minor decline of performance over the years, with a degradation rate varying from 1 to 4%. Halabi et al. [71] studied the performance evaluation of three different types of PV arrays connected to utility-grid in Malaysia and concluded that the PV performance depends directly on the solar irradiation and the surrounding environmental impacts. Performance assessment of a 20 kW_p solar PV system installed at the Indian Institute of Science, Bangalore, was done by Vasisht et al. [72], in which they reported that the performance ratio (PR) of the PV system is 85% and is inversely proportional to the module temperature. Chandrakant et al. [40] carried out a simulation-based performance analysis of a 6.4 kW grid-connected rooftop solar PV system using various simulation software. They reported a 41% reduction in the utility grid's energy requirement when the GCPV system with a 75% PR was

implemented. According to Renu et al. [73], the performance of a PV system is sorted based on (i) Performance Ratio (PR) and (ii) Capacity Utilisation Factor (CUF).

From the aforementioned paragraph, it is evident that several studies [74-87] have carried out a performance analysis of GCPV systems worldwide. However, such studies are specific to regional conditions. Regarding Malaysia, environmental conditions vary from other countries, and only study [88] have attempted to analyze the long-term outdoor performance of GCPV systems. Further, no single study has been reported on target-oriented performance analysis of GCPV systems yet in the literature.

2.4.1 Performance Ratio

The performance ratio is one of the crucial parameters to assess the performance of a GCPV system and is accepted worldwide. The higher the system's PR, the greater its efficiency under comparable climatic conditions relative to other systems. Based on the report of an EU PERFORMANCE project, a PR of 0.8 and higher is an indicator of the excellent performance of GCPV systems [89].

In Belgium [90], PR was used as a critical indicator to analyze 993 residential GCPV systems' performance over two years. The average performance ratio was found to be 0.78, representing a decent performing system. The PR of a GCPV system in Algiers varied between 62% to 77%. [91]. Hussin et al. [92] reported that PR could be different for different PV module technologies. . In their study , they found different PR of 78.2%, 81%, and 94.6% for polycrystalline, monocrystalline, and amorphous silicon module, respectively, under the Malaysian climatic conditions Interestingly, PR can also be changed by time [93]. In a study carried out in India [94], the PR was less than 0.6 due to inverter failure for three months in the first year. However, in the next year, the average PR was 0.7 as the inverter problem was repaired. This indicates that PR's consistent monitoring would benefit the commercial consumer to improve system performance, leading to higher PR values.

Khalid et al. [89] report that for the GCPV system, PR reflects the actual performance as compared to the capacity utilization factor (CUF). It was reported by Stefan [95] that, for the identical meteorological condition or similar geographic region, PR is the principal tool to distinguish even trivial disparities in the performance of a GCPV system. Renu et al. [73] studied a GCPV system's performance installed in a university building and found the PR to be 0.78. The monthly distribution

of PR was demonstrated by Kumar to assess the real performance of a GCPV system at Ramagundam, India [96], as shown in Fig. 2.5. The highest and lowest PR of 97.5% and 73.88%, respectively, in December and April, with an annual average of 85.15%. The authors mentioned that lower PR is attributed to the inappropriate operation of the system and inverter failure.



Fig. 2.5. Monthly and average PR over a monitored period of a study in India [96]

Recently, Kazem et al. [93] evaluated the effect of aging on the performance of a 1.4 kW GCPV system situated in Oman, as shown in Fig.2.6. It is evident that PR showed a minor degradation over seven years of operating, which was not observed for annual energy yield. In 2020, Rachit et al.[97] presented an overview of the performance of PV plants commissioned at different places in the world. They have found that almost all the PV plants exhibit a good performance ratio, and the average PR of all the solar PV systems was 73.21%. Interestingly, the highest PR was observed in Malaysia (94.6) due to implementation of modern PV technology and decent climate condition. Fig. 2.7 depicts the comparison of the PR at different location in the world. This confirms that the PR is very specific to the geographical region due to the respective weather conditions. They have also concluded that the PR of the solar PV system is improving with time due to the development in PV material technology and inverter topologies.



Fig. 2.6. Performance analysis after seven years of operation in Oman [93]



PV Plants

Fig. 2.7. Performance ratio of the PV plants at different places of the world [97]

2.4.2 Capacity utilization factor

CUF is considered one of the most important parameters to evaluate and compare the PV plants' performance at different locations. This is because CUF mainly depends on the global horizontal irradiance (GHI) of the installed PV systems' location. According to Chaudhari et al. [98], CUF is the relationship between the actual production of the installed PV capacity and the probable output which could be produced if the capacity was fully used. Moreover, they also found a strong positive correlation between CUF and solar irradiation.

Venkatesh et al. [99] claimed that CUF portrays the electricity cost, which means the higher the CUF, the lower the electricity cost. They also argued that the difference in CUF depends upon several aspects, such as losses in the system and climatic changes. Vasisht et al. [72] have argued that besides GHI, CUF of a GCPV system also depends on the solar PV modules' cell efficiency. In a performance assessment study, Sreenath et al. [100] found that the value of CUF fluctuates between 12.6% and 17.46% for a GCPV system installed in Kuantan airport, Malaysia. From their study, it has been observed that the CUF did not follow the same pattern as PR, as shown in Fig. 2.8.



Fig. 2.8. CUF of a PV plant at Kuantan Airport, Malaysia [100]

In a performance analysis study [101], it was demonstrated that CUF usually varies from month to month due to the system losses. They found the annual average CUF for a GCPV plant in Timor LaRosae to be 14.83%, with a maximum of 19.44% in September and a minimum of 10.72 % in December. Similarly, Zoltan et al. [102] reported that CUF values varied significantly during eight years of operation between 13.15 to 14.5%. A study conducted by Attari et al. [79] on a GCPV system's performance analysis found the CUF annual average value to be 14.84%. They have reported that the PV system could generate full energy in about 55 days in a year. Ramanan et al. [103] evaluated the CUF for two different PV modules and found that for the CIS module, CUF is higher (19.57) than the P-Si module (17.99).

2.4.3 Yield

PV energy yield can be defined as the total AC energy generated by a solar PV system. It is one of the crucial parameters specified by International Energy Agency (IEA). According to Marios [104], PV energy yield is closely related to cost evaluations. Specifically, the payback period of a PV system

and the investment level are linked with the PV energy yield. Usually, the energy yield of a solar PV system depends on many factors such as; PV module technology, solar irradiation, cell temperature, cloud, and other shading effects, inverter efficiency, dust, weather conditions, geographical location, cable thickness, etc. [105].

Ayompe et al. [106] studied the performance of a 1.72 kWp PV system in Dublin, Ireland and reported that despite high wind speeds, low solar insolation, and ambient temperature, the GCPV system had the highest annual average yield due to high PV module efficiency. The performance of a 20 kWp solar PV system was assessed by Vashist et al. [72] under different climate condition. They found annual yield of 28.9 MWh with an average daily yield of 80 kWh. Renu et al. [73] mentioned that the electrical behaviour of solar PV system has significant impact on cell temperature which ultimately affects the final energy output.

Edalati et al. [107] compared the energy yield of two different PV technology in Iran. Their findings revealed that the energy yield of polycrystalline (p-Si) PV modules was higher than monocrystalline (mc-Si) modules. However, Tahri et al. [108] compared the AC energy yield between mc-Si and CIS PV modules and found that mc-Si modules generate quite higher yield than CIS PV modules. Attari et al. [79] compared the final PV energy yield of several sites, as shown in Fig. 2.9. It is clear that energy yield was higher in some sites such as Oman, Kuwait, and Morocco (denoted as present study in Fig. 2.9.). According to authors, this was due to the high solar irradiation and maximum sunshine hours duration at the particular locations.



Fig. 2.9. Comparison of final energy yield in several sites [79]

Besides, PR, CUF, and yield, there are also some parameters such as; system efficiency, inverter efficiency, PV module efficiency, etc. to evaluate the performance of a PV system.

2.5 Techno-economic analysis of GCPV system using commercial HOMER software

Before implementing and installing a GCPV system, a realistic techno-economic analysis must be carried out to anticipate the economic and environmental outcomes. Several studies have been conducted on the feasibility of the GCPV system worldwide on homes, university campuses, schools, hotels, hospitals, etc. [109]. For instance, Zhang et al. [110] showed that solar PV with a grid connection would reduce cost of energy (COE) by 46% for commercial consumers in China. In southern France, a techno-economic feasibility study emphasized that the GCPV system would lower the electricity cost by 10% and minimize the GHG emission over 90% for an office building. A similar result has been observed for electricity generation for family farms in Algeria, where the GCPV system has lowered the electricity cost by 8% with a 68% reduction in GHG emissions [111].

On the contrary, Dalton et al. [112] found that the GCPV system would be less economical than the grid-only system due to a significant rise in total net present cost (NPC) for tourist accommodation in Australia. Interestingly, a feasibility study done by Ruben et al. [113] revealed that the GCPV system for university campus buildings in Indonesia is technically feasible but considered unfeasible economically due to the high value of NPC. The reason behind high NPC is that the Indonesian government subsidies the electricity cost to the educational institutions. Similarly, the techno-economic evaluation of GCPV systems for rooftop solar PV building in five climate zones in China was examined by Chong et al. [86]. They have reported that even though the GCPV system incurred a higher cost than the only grid system, in terms of both economics and emissions, the GCPV system was a better choice for all five regions than the other systems considered in that study. To install a 10MW GCPV system, Rehman et al. [114] carried out several techno-economic feasibility studies at different Saudi Arabia sites and select Bisha as the most suitable site due to its long sunshine hours and high amount of solar irradiance.

In recent years most research in GCPV systems has been carried out by using HOMER. Systematic literature review reveals that HOMER is one of the most used tools for system optimization by the researchers as it has a maximum combination of renewable energy systems and sensitivity analysis which makes it easier and faster to evaluate many possible system configurations [115]. Rabaza et al. [116] performed a techno-economic assessment of solar PV using HOMER and showed that the energy cost reduced by 37.2% in Spanish olive oil industry. Mohammed et al. [117], presented a HOMER based hybrid PV/fuel cell combination without battery storage, to prove a feasible alternative for conventional generators and reduced the total maintenance cost to meet the electrical load. In 2014, Adarmola et al. [118] analyzed the economic feasibility of six hybrid
combinations of electricity generation by using HOMER in southern Ghana. HOMER was used to investigate the economic viability of a PV/diesel HPS in various climatic zones within Tamil Nadu (India), and this helped the government to invest in renewable energy to improve the rural electrification problem [119].

Author(s), year	Computational approach	System type	Commercial building type	Country	Outcome
Islam et al., 2018 [120]	HOMER	PV-Grid- Battery	Office Buildings	France	Lowered the electricity cost by 10% and minimizes the GHG emission by over 90%
Anand et al., 2017 [121]	HOMER	PV-HFC- Battery	Educational	India	Minimum NPC with 0% capital shortage
Sigalo et al., 2017 [122]	HOMER	PV-Grid	Educational	Nigeria	More cost-efficient than diesel-only PV system with COE \$0.0386
Normazlina et al., 2016 [123]	HOMER	PV-FC- Battery	Hospital	Malaysia	Environment friendly with lowest COE 0.091 \$/kWh
Zhang et al., 2016 [124]	HOMER	PV-Grid- Battery	Office building	China	Reduce the COE by 46%
Dalton et al., 2009 [125]	HOMER	PV- Wind- Grid	Hotel	Australia	50% lower NPC
Rachit et al., 2016 [126]	HOMER	PV-Grid	Educational	India	COE of \$0.1/kWh with 37% renewable fraction and CO2 reduction 544t/year.

Table 2.3 St	ummarized l	iterature <i>i</i>	review (of using	HOMER	software or	1 the	commercial	buildir	12
				()						۰.

For hydrogen production in Saudi Arabia, HOMER was used to optimize renewables, which lead to a minimum cost of energy [119]. The outcome from Normazlina et al. [120], showed a cogeneration system of fuel cells and solar PV was profitable to meet the load of a Malaysian hospital building and at the same time reduce the effect of the emissions with the help of HOMER. In 2018, Gökçek, et al. [121], used HOMER and reported that hydrogen refueling station powered by renewable energy was economically cost-effective for Turkey. Recently, HOMER has developed a dedicated tool for grid system as HOMER Grid. However, this newly developed HOMER Grid has not been much applied to commercial buildings in particular to Malaysian region. A summarized literature review of using HOMER software for techno-economic analysis of renewable energy-based system is presented in Table 2.3. It is quite evident that HOMER is a powerful commercial tool to evaluate the techno-economic feasibility of the renewable energy hybrid system.

2.6 Summary

It is clear from literature review that GCPV system plays an important role in reducing the electricity demand of commercial buildings. It also revealed that performance analysis of installed GCPV is necessary to understand the efficiency and operation of the system. Therefore, several researchers from different locations in the world have presented the performance analysis of GCPV system. It not only provides a crucial information on the technical performance, but also on the economical aspect of the system that can benefit all the stakeholders; the consumer, investors and solar service company. Further, a commercial algorithm optimization software (HOMER, USA) has also been utilized to obtain decision on the techno-economic feasibility of the renewable energy. A range of literature covering performance analysis, and techno-economic approaches for investigating the feasibility analysis of GCPV systems for commercial building in Malaysia have been discussed. The main problem as highlighted in Chapter 1, is high operational cost associated to the consumption of electricity in the commercial buildings. In order to reduce the MD in the commercial building a GCPV system was installed on the rooftop of Monash Malaysia campus building whose description is provided in methodology Chapter 3. However, realistic performance analysis of already installed GCPV systems and techno-economic feasibility analysis of future GCPV system was not carried out until date. Clearly, till date very few or none have used newly developed HOMER Grid optimization tool to perform techno-economic feasibility study of GCPV system on the commercial building. In order to address the research questions and the gap of the present project, the following Chapter 3 provides a detail research methodology on the performance analysis and techno-economic assessment of GCPV system for commercial building of university campus.

Chapter 3

Methodology

3.1 Site characteristics and existing GCPV system description

Monash University, Malaysia, located in Bandar Sunway, Selangor, Malaysia, with a latitude of 3.0645° N and a longitude 101.6011° E, respectively, is selected as the site for this case study. As a tropical country with an average annual rainfall of ~2300 mm, Malaysia experiences substantial rainfall throughout the whole year. Individually, in Sunway city, the maximum temperature is around 27.4 ° C, and it ranges between 26.9 ° C and 28.0 ° C [127]. On a horizontal surface in Sunway city, Malaysia, the average global solar radiation is ~ 4.21 - 5.06 kWh/m²/day [128]. Monash University Malaysia's architectural design and satellite view are shown in Fig. 3.1.



Fig. 3.1. Architectural design and satellite view of Monash University Malaysia

The existing GCPV system comprises of 646 monocrystalline PV modules (JA Solar), each of 360 Wp, covering an area of 2169 m², as shown in Fig. 3.2. The PV modules are accumulated into five units, and each unit is connected to an inverter. Two different models of inverters are used: inverters 1 and 2 are SUNGROW S50KTL (50,000 Wp), and inverters 3, 4, and 5 are SUNGROW S36KTL (36,000 Wp). The first two inverters (1 and 2) are connected to eight arrays, each consisting of a string of 20 PV modules, and six of which are connected in parallel with inverter 3.

Similarly, six arrays of PV modules are connected to inverter 4: the first two arrays each consist of 20 PV modules, and the remaining four arrays each consist of 19 modules. The final inverter is

linked with five arrays, each consisting of 20 PV modules except one which has only ten modules. The inverter and PV module connection configuration are shown in Fig. 3.2.



Fig. 3.2. a) Aerial view of the GCPV system installed on the rooftop of Monash campus building,b) Schematic layout of the GCPV modules and inverters connection

DC combiner boxes, an AC solar main switchboard, and a data logger were also installed. The orientation and the tilt angle of the GCPV system were based on the rooftop arrangement. The overall physical and technical specifications of the Monash GCPV system are summarized in Table 3.1.

Commissioning date	November 2018					
System connection	Self-consumption GCPV system					
type						
Total area	2169 m^2					
	Number of PV modules	646				
	Model	JAM 72 S01- 360/PR				
	Cell type	Mono				
	Rated maximum power (P _{max}) [W]	360				
	Open circuit voltage (Voc) [V]	47.66				
PV module details and	Maximum power voltage (V _{mp}) [V]	38.96				
specifications	Short circuit current (Isc) [A]	9.81				
	Maximum power current (Imp) [A]	9.24				
	Module efficiency (%)	18.5				
	Temperature coefficient of I_{sc}	+0.060 %/ °C				
	Temperature coefficient of V_{oc}	-0.300 %/ °C				
	Temperature coefficient of P _{max}	-0.380 %/ °C				

Table 3.1 Physical and technical specification of the Monash Malaysia campus GCPV system

	Maximum system voltage	1000V/1500V/DC (IEC)		
	Operating temperature, °C	-40 °C ~+85		
	NOCT, °C	45±2		
	Model	SG 50 KTL-M-50	SG 36 KTL-M-20	
	Number of inverters	2	3	
	Maximum PV input voltage (V)	1000	1100	
	Maximum PV input current (VA)	112	88	
	MPPT voltage range (V)	300-950	200-1000	
Inverter details and specifications	Nominal AC output power (kW)	50	36	
specifications	Maximum AC output power (kW)	50	36	
	Nominal AC operating voltage (V)	230/400	230/400	
	AC voltage range (V)	310 - 480	310 - 480	
	Efficiency (%)	98.9 - 98.5	98.5 - 98.3	
Data Logger		Solar-Log 2000		

3.2 Data collection

A Solar-Log 2000) data logger was equipped with the Monash GCPV system to monitor and record, at 5-minute intervals, necessary energy production data and influential parameters such as: module temperature, solar irradiance, wind speed, ambient temperature, PV yield, and electrical parameters. The data logger is connected to a modem to capture a local wireless connection, where it transfers all the acquired data to the webserver. The results presented in this study consist of one year of data recorded between 1st January 2019 and 31st December 2019.

3.3 Meteorological data

The annual average solar irradiation of the Malaysian site is 4.15 kWh/m2/day, and ranges between 3 and 5 kWh/m2/day, with a high of 6.09 kWh/m2/day recorded in September 2019 and a low of 0.534 kWh/m2/day in December 2019 as shown in Fig. 3.3. Although the highest solar irradiation in 2019 was recorded in September, the maximum and minimum average daily peak sunshine hours (PSH) were recorded in March (4.52 h) and December (3.61 h), as illustrated in Fig. 3.4b. The PSH has a relation with solar irradiation. PSH is the ratio of solar irradiation (H) in kWh/m² to the standard solar irradiance (G) i.e. 1000 kW/m². The average monthly ambient temperature in March was 30.71 °C and in December was 28.34 °C (Fig. 3.4a). The highest monthly module temperature reached was 73 °C (in March, April, and October), and the lowest recorded was 21 °C (in April and June, at night)

(Fig. 3.4a). The average module temperature presented in Fig. 3.4a is a monthly average that includes both daytime and night time.

The ambient temperature was always found to be lower than the average module temperature, which may be due to thermal losses arising on power generation, as earlier reported by Sivasankari et al [129]. Usually, the wind speed is much lower in Malaysia, and the highest recorded was 1.42 m/s in May 2019. However, wind and its speed will affect the module temperature by taking away some of the heat through convection. Solar irradiation, module temperature, ambient temperature, PSH, and wind speed have a considerable influence on the performance of the solar PV system [130]. They concluded that even though PV technology prices have decreased and now offer a long service life with low operation costs, the energy production from PV systems is very much dependent on location and weather conditions. Solar irradiation is the most highly fluctuating and sensitive parameter, as depicted in Fig. 3.3. Santhakumari and Sagar [131] have addressed the effect of climatic and environmental conditions such as dust, ambient temperature, wind velocity, humidity, snowfall, hailstorms, lightning, ice, air-mass, clouds, the latitude of installation, module degradation, and sandstorm on PV efficiency, energy yield, and energy production. Four climatic factors (temperature, irradiation, humidity, and mechanical stress) are responsible for the degradation of the PV module. One of the most important of these was found to be hot and humid environmental conditions that allow moisture to permeate the back sheet of the PV module, which separates the PV cells from the metal, thus enhancing corrosion and causing leakage of current. This is scenario is highly possible in Malaysian tropical climatic conditions.



Fig. 3.3. Daily solar irradiation (kWh/m²) for the year 2019 in Malaysia



Fig. 3.4. (a) Monthly maximum, minimum and average PV module temperature, and ambient temperature; (b) PSH and wind speed (monthly average) of Monash GCPV site

3.4 Electricity load data

The monthly electricity consumption data of 2019 of the whole Monash University, Malaysia campus, was collected from Facility Management Department (FMD), as shown in Fig. 3.5. It can be observed that Monash has the highest electricity consumption during March to May, and August to October due to the peak operational time of the campus. During this time, semesters are running, and buildings are heavily occupied and used for teaching and learning activities. Besides this, the research activities are continuous that uses energy intensive equipment. The high amount of electricity is usually used to operate various building assets such as air conditioning, lighting, lifts, lab equipment, and other office electrical devices.



Fig. 3.5. Monthly electricity consumption of Monash University, Malaysia in 2019 Monash University, Malaysia, consists of seven buildings. However, the electricity consumption of these buildings are not the same. For techno-economic analysis, building with the highest and lowest load is selected for the present work as all the buildings show almost the same load pattern.

3.4.1 Load data for building with the highest load

The School of Medicine, Health Science and Science laboratories are situated in building 3 (B3) consumes the highest amount of electricity in the campus due to the continuous operation of lab equipment such as refrigerators, cold storage and sensitive equipment for 24/7. The average daily and seasonal profile of the electricity load of B3 is presented in Fig. 3.6. the highest consumption of about 250 kW in the morning till afternoon time is due to operation of teaching and learning activities in addition to research work. However, even after the office hours and during night-time the consumption is observed to maintain at 190 kW because of refrigerators operating for 24/7. In the seasonal profile, the highest bar refers to the maximum load consumption while the lower bar shows the minimum load consumption. The middle bar is the average and the box refer to the variation of load in the month.



Fig. 3.6. Average daily and seasonal electricity load profile of B3 in 2019

From daily profile it's clear that B3 consumes significant amount of electricity throughout the 24 h of a day as compared to other buildings. The average MD was from 9.00 am to 17.00 pm, which is approximately between 250 kW - 300 kW. However, the highest MD of B3 in 2019 was 455 kW, which was recorded in May. It is clear from the seasonal profile that B3 has the highest electricity consumption during March-May, and August – October. The average hourly MD profile for B3 is shown in Fig. 3.7. B3 has almost similar MD profile throughout each month of the year.



Fig. 3.7. Average hourly MD profile of each month at B3 in 2019

3.4.2 Load data for building with the lowest load

Building 7 (B7) consumes the lowest electricity in the Monash campus and this building occupies the library. The main electricity consumption in B7 is due to the lighting and air conditioning. The average daily and seasonal profile of the electricity load of B7 is presented in Fig. 3.8.



Fig. 3.8. Average daily and seasonal electricity load profile of B7 in 2019

The daily profile of B3 is quite different from B7, as the load for B3 drops below 10 kW in the night-time. The average MD was from 9.00 am to 17.00 pm, which is approximately between 70 kW - 120 kW which coincides with the library usual operating timings 9.00 am to 10.00 pm. The highest MD of B7 in 2019 was 212 kW, recorded in April and lowest in month of December and January (that has normal semester break). The seasonal profile illustrates the highest electricity consumption during March-May, and July – November, obviously corresponding to learning and teaching activities during running semester. B7 also has similar MD profile throughout each month of the year as shown

in Fig. 3.9. However, May- June and Sep – Nov, there was a small spike in average MD during the beginning of the day.



Fig. 3.9. Average hourly MD profile of each month at B7 in 2019

3.5 Mathematical methodology for the Performance Analysis of existing Grid-connected Photovoltaic system

To investigate the performance of the current GCPV system, several metrics were specified as per national (MS IEC 61724:2010) and international standards. The performance indices considered in this study are yield, PR, CUF, system efficiency. The economic and environmental performance has also been assessed.

3.5.1 Yield

Yield is the amount of energy generated by the GCPV system. It is one of the most critical performance metrics of a GCPV system that is directly related to PR and CUF.

The total measured AC yield generated by the GCPV system can be expressed as [132];

$$Y_{mea,AC} = \sum_{t=1}^{N} E_{AC(t)} \quad [kWh]$$
(1)

Where $E_{AC}(kWh)$ is the measured final AC energy output at time *t* (can be in minutes, hour, or day), and *N* is the number of observations.

The total DC yield is given as [132];

$$Y_{mea,DC} = \sum_{t=1}^{N} E_{DC(t)} \quad [kWh]$$
⁽²⁾

Where $E_{DC}(kWh)$ is the DC energy output at time *t* (can be in minutes, hour, or day), and *N* is the number of observations.

The target for AC yield evaluation is calculated as [132];

$$Y_{tar} = P_{array_STC} \times PSH_{poa} \times k_{deration_y} \times \eta_{cable} \times \eta_{inv} [kWh]$$
(3)

where Y_{tar} is the target AC yield, P_{array_STC} is the power of the PV array under standard testing conditions (STC), PSH_{poa} is peak sunshine hour, $k_{deration_y}$ is the deration factor of energy yield, η_{cable} is the efficiency of DC cable from PV to the inverter, η_{inv} is the inverter efficiency. The peak sunshine hour was calculated as [132];

$$PSH = \frac{H}{G_o} \tag{4}$$

where **H** is solar irradiation (kWh/m²) and G_o is solar irradiation under STC, i.e., 1 kW/m².

Specific yield (SY_{mea}) is the amount of AC energy generated by the system per unit capacity and is given by [132];

$$SY_{mea} = \frac{Y_{mea,AC}}{P_{array_STC}} \left[\frac{kWh}{kwp}\right]$$
(5)

3.5.2 Performance ratio (PR)

The PR describes the quality factor that measures the performance of the PV system and specifies how closely its performance approaches the ideal performance during real-life operation independent of the location. It includes all design and installation parameters and gives a normalized indication of the system. The measured and target performance ratio can be calculated by Eq. 6 and Eq. 7 [132];

$$PR_{mea} = \frac{Y_{mea}}{P_{array_STC} \times PSH_{poa}} \quad [\%]$$
(6)

$$PR_{tar} = \frac{Y_{tar}}{P_{array_STC} \times PSH_{poa}} \quad [\%]$$
⁽⁷⁾

Where, PR_{mea} , and PR_{tar} , are the measured and target performance ratio, respectively.

3.5.3 Capacity utilization factor (CUF)

The CUF of a GCPV installation is defined as the ratio of the AC energy output (E_{AC}) over a given period (usually one year) to the energy output that would have been generated if the system operated at full capacity for the entire period. It is calculated as [133]:

$$CUF = \frac{E_{AC}}{P_{array_{STC}} \times A_h} \quad [\%]$$
(8)

Where A_h is the total expected number of hours of operation in a given period, commonly a year (for a regular year which consists of 365 days, $A_h = 8760$ h).

3.5.4 System efficiency, η_{sys}

The system efficiency of the GCPV system is provided by Eq. 9 [134];

$$\eta_{sys} = \frac{E_{AC}}{H_t \times A_a} \tag{9}$$

Where, H_t is the total in-plane solar irradiation (kWh/m²) and A_a is the module area (m²).

3.5.5 Loss analysis

Energy losses occur in the GCPV system in several ways, the most significant of which are system losses and array capture losses.

System losses are due to the conversion of DC into AC by the inverters and are given by Eq. 10[132, 135]

$$L_S = \frac{E_{DC}}{P_{array_{STC}}} - \frac{E_{AC}}{P_{array_{STC}}}$$
(10)

Array capture losses are any losses due to the PV array and are given using Eq. 11;

$$L_C = PSH - \frac{E_{DC}}{P_{array_{STC}}}$$
(11)

3.5.6 Economic analysis

Metrics such as the payback period and the LCOE were considered to assess the financial viability of the GCPV system. The LCOE is the present value of the price of the generated electrical energy, considering the economic life of the plant and the costs of construction, operation, and maintenance. It is calculated as [133]:

$$LCOE = \frac{CRF * C_I + C_{o\&m}}{E_{AC}} \left[\frac{\$}{kWh}\right]$$
(12)

Where C_I is the initial capital cost, $C_{o\&m}$ is the annual operation and maintenance cost, and E_{AC} is the annual electricity generated by the installation. *CRF* is the capital recovery factor, which is given by Eq. 13 [133];

$$CRF(i,N) = \frac{i(1+i)^N}{(1+i)^{N-1}}$$
(13)

where *i* is the interest rate, and *N* is the payment period (in years).

3.5.7 Environmental analysis

The environmental performance of the GCPV system was assessed using the CO_2 factor - the amount of carbon dioxide that can be mitigated by using solar PV in Malaysia. The average CO_2

factor in Malaysia is 0.585 tCO2/MWh [136]. The annual carbon dioxide avoided was calculated using Eq. 14;

$$(CO_2)_a = 0.585 \times \boldsymbol{E_{AC}} \text{ (metric tons)}$$
(14)

3.6 Techno-economic assessment for an extended GCPV system using HOMER Grid

HOMER is one of the most used computational approach for system optimization as it facilitates the comparison of power generation technologies across a wide range of applications [137] with a maximum combination of renewable energy systems and sensitivity analysis. It evaluates the optimal size of hybrid energy systems by carrying out the techno-economic analysis [138]. HOMER Grid is an optimisation software dedicated in reducing the demand charge. A derivative-free Black Box algorithm is used for the optimisation mechanism. HOMER's optimisation and sensitivity analysis algorithms simplify the evaluation of many possible system configurations. Based on the project inputs given by the user such as load profile, grid tariffs, component specifications, economic parameters HOMER Grid runs hundreds of simulations, and it ranks the outcome of the simulations based on least cost of NPC (Net Present Cost) as show in Fig. 3.10. the input to HOMER consists of location, load profile, electricity tariff, economics and incentives and components (solar PV, energy storage, wind, generator, etc.). HOMER Grid uses all these inputs to run hundreds of simulations to provide an optimized hybrid combination solution.



Fig. 3.10. Techno-economic analysis methodology of HOMER Grid

3.6.1 Technical parameters

Technical analysis plays a vital role in HOMER's simulation and optimization process due to many design options and the uncertainty in key parameters, such as load size. The modelling of the GCPV system configuration in HOMER Grid software consists of four main components, such as PV module, converter, battery and utility grid. However, batteries are expensive to install and also not feasible for the site location hence not included in the present study. 'Grid only' is the existing source of power supply (TNB) to satisfy the electricity load of B3 and B7 buildings. In the result section, the grid only system will be compared with the proposed GCPV system.

3.6.1.1 Solar PV system

A PV module is the core element of the solar PV system, which converts the sun's light or photons directly into electrical energy. HOMER calculates the output of the PV array using the following equation [139]:

$$P_{PV} = Y_{PV} f_{PV} \left(\frac{\bar{G}_T}{\bar{G}_{T,STC}} \right) \left[1 + \alpha_p (T_c - T_{c,STC}) \right]$$
(15)

Where, $Y_{PV}(kW)$ is the rated capacity of the PV array, $f_{PV}(\%)$ is the derating factor, $\bar{G}_T\left(\frac{W}{m^2}\right)$ is the solar radiation incident on the PV array, $\bar{G}_{T,STC}\left(1\frac{kW}{m^2}\right)$ is the incident radiation at standard test conditions, α_P is the temperature coefficient of power, T_C (°C) is the PV cell temperature under standard conditions. The derating factor is a scaling factor meant to account for effects of dust on the panel, wire losses, elevated temperature, or else that would cause the output of the PV array to deviate from that expected under ideal conditions. For the analysis purpose, JAM 72 S01- 360/PR solar PV module was selected in this study. The capital cost was set as 2500 RM per kWp, replacement and maintenance cost were assumed as 2500 RM and 1.5 RM per kWp/per year, respectively. These costs of the solar PV system were provided by local solar service company. The standard lifetime is 25 years.

3.6.1.2 Inverter

An inverter is a device that alters electric power from DC to AC in a process called inversion. The inverter size, which is a decision variable, refers to the inverter capacity, meaning the maximum amount of AC power that the inverter can produce by inverting. The following formula will be used for the inverter to convert DC electricity of PV panels to AC electricity with and efficiency η_{inv} ,

$$P_{inv,out} = \eta_{inv} P_{PV} \tag{16}$$

Where, $P_{inv,out}$ is the output power rating of the inverter. SG 50 KTL-M-50 has been modelled as an inverter in this thesis. The capital cost has been set to be RM 1000 per kWp, Replacement and maintenance cost has been assumed as RM 1000 and RM 1 per kWp, respectively. The standard lifetime of an inverter is 15 years. These costs were provided by local solar service company.

3.6.1.3 Utility

A Utility is an organization that supplies electricity to customers. For example, TNB is the only electric utility company in Peninsular Malaysia. In HOMER Grid, utility is one of the main components to design a GCPV system. A utility designs several tariffs to cover different types of services and customers. It typically has different tariffs for residential and commercial customers. Each tariff is a list of rate charges and describes a service.

3.6.2 Economic parameters

One of the main usages of HOMER Grid is to provide an economic analysis while meeting the system constraints. Two main economic parameters are calculated, such as; COE (cost of energy), TNPC (total net present cost). These costs are used by HOMER to determine the optimum system.

3.6.2.1 Cost of energy

The cost of energy (COE) is defined as the average cost per kWh of useful electrical energy produced by the system. The following equation will be used to calculate the COE,

$$COE = \frac{C_{ann,tot}}{E_{served}}$$
(17)

Where, $C_{ann,tot}$ is the total annualized cost and E_{served} is the total electricity served. The total annualized cost is the annualized value of the total net present cost. HOMER calculates the total annualized cost using the following equation:

$$C_{ann,tot} = CRF(i, R_{proj}).C_{NPC,tot}$$
(18)

Where, $C_{NPC,tot}$ is the total net present cost, *i* is the the annual real discount rate (%), R_{proj} is the project lifetime, *CRF* () is a function returning the capital recovery factor. The following equation will be used to calculate the operating cost,

$$Cop = C_{ann,tot} - C_{ann,cap} \tag{19}$$

3.6.2.2 Net Present Cost

HOMER's main economic output by which it levels all system configurations in the optimization results is total NPC. The NPC is calculated within HOMER using below equation

$$NPC = \frac{C_{ann.tot}}{CRF}$$
(20)

Where, $C_{ann.tot}$ is the total annualized cost and CRF represent capital recovery factor. The following equation defines CRF,

$$CRF(i, N) = \frac{i(1+i)^{N}}{(1+i)^{N}-1}$$
(21)

Where i = real discount rate and N = number of years.

The objective function of HOMER Grid is to minimize the total NPC. Regarding the costs for each element, Equation (21) applies for all of the planning horizons,

$$C_{element,i} = \sum C_{capital,i} + C_{O\&M,i} + C_{replacement,i} + C_{fuel,i} (MYR)$$
(22)

Where, $C_{capital,i}$, $C_{O\&M,i}$, $C_{replacement,i}$, $C_{fuel,i}$ is the capital cost, operation and maintenance cost, replacement cost and fuel cost, respectively.

The PV fraction (f_{PV}) can be calculated by Equation (2) below,

$$f_{PV} = 1 - \frac{E_{non-renewable}}{E_{served}}$$
(23)

Where, $E_{non-renewable}$ = The total amount of non-renewable energy produced and E_{served} = The total amount of energy served to the consumer.

It has now become apparent that the best system configuration would be the one that results in the lower total NPC at the start of the project while satisfying all constraints.

3.7 Environmental assessment

In HOMER, the environmental effect is calculated for direct emissions of CO2, CO, NOx, SO2, particulate matter, and unburnt hydrocarbons from fuel combustion technologies [140]. Calculating the emission in HOMER is slightly different between the generator and the grid. For the generator, before simulating the power system, emissions are studied in HOMER as the product of emission

factor and annual consumption of fuel. An emission factor is kg of pollutant emitted per unit of fuel consumed. After the simulation, it calculates the annual emissions of that pollutant by multiplying the emissions factor by the total annual fuel consumption. However, in simulating a grid-connected system, HOMER calculates the net grid purchases, equal to the entire grid purchases minus the total grid sales. To calculate the emissions of each pollutant associated with these net grid purchases, HOMER multiplies the net grid purchases (in kWh) by the emission factor (in g/kWh) for each pollutant. If the system sells more power to the grid than it buys from the grid over the year, the net grid purchases are negative and so are the grid-related emissions of each pollutant.

3.8 Methodology for architectural constraint based on the SEDA standards

Based on this method, the number of PV modules that can be installed in an available area depends on the orientation of the PV modules. For instance, the PV modules can be installed in lengthwise across direction or lengthwise up adjustment. The orientation that can accommodate the maximum PV module will be selected for the installation. There are several topologies available to connect the solar PV, but the PV-inverter topologies may differ depending on the rooftop area available [141].

Lengthwise-across: The maximum number of PV modules that can be installed lengthwise across is calculated as follow:

$$N_{max _module_across} = N_{across_up} \times N_{across_across}$$
(24)

where, N_{across_up} and N_{across_across} is given by,

$$N_{across_up} = r. d. \left[\frac{W_{roof}}{W_{mod} + \Delta} \right]$$
(25)

$$N_{across_across} = r. d. \left[\frac{L_{roof}}{L_{mod} + \Delta} \right]$$
(26)

Lengthwise-up: The maximum number of modules that can be installed lengthwise up is calculated as follow:

$$N_{max _module_up} = N_{up_up} \times N_{up_across}$$
⁽²⁷⁾

 N_{up_up} and N_{up_across} is given by,

$$N_{up_up} = r. d. \left[\frac{W_{roof}}{L_{mod} + \Delta} \right]$$
⁽²⁸⁾

$$N_{up_across} = r. d. \left[\frac{L_{roof}}{W_{mod} + \Delta} \right]$$
⁽²⁹⁾

Where, r.d. is round down to the next value; W_{roof} is the width of the utilisable area of the roof; W_{mod} is the width of the module; $\Delta = 0.01$ m is the allowed inter-module gap; L_{roof} is the length of the utilisable area of the roof, and L_{mod} is the length of the module. Between lengthwise up and lengthwise across design, whichever accommodate maximum PV modules will be chosen for installation.

$$N_{max _module} = max(N_{max_module_across}..N_{max _module_up})$$
(30)

Summary

The research methodology of the present project is outlined in Fig. 3.11. After the collection and analysis of required data in the first stage, all these data will be used for both performance analysis and techno-economic analysis. In stage 2, all the performance indices were calculated, and a realistic performance analysis has been carried out. The optimal sizes of GCPV system then will be determined in two steps, including simulation and optimization, in stage 3. The techno-economic analysis will be carried out based on total capital cost, net present cost. Finally, the results obtained from the present methodology are described in the next Chapter 4 with final conclusions in Chapter 5.



Fig. 3.11. Research methodology flowchart

Chapter 4

Results and discussion

4.1. Target oriented performance analysis of 232.5 kWp GCPV system

4.1.1 Yield analysis

The yield output was obtained from the solar data logger, which measures the energy generated from the installed GCPV system, after the DC/AC inverter, at 5-minute intervals. The total actual yield of the GCPV system achieved the set target yield for five months of the year (January, March, April, October, and November), as illustrated in Fig 4.1. The ratio of actual yield to target yield, as a percentage, was lower in the months in which the actual yield did not reach the target, leading to a reduction in the economic performance of the GCPV system. The highest yield of 29.70 MWh (due to the high number of sunny days with clear skies) was obtained in March, while the lowest yield of 21.15 MWh (due to cloudy days with frequent rain) was obtained in December, which corresponds with the highest and lowest PSH in March and December, respectively. Overall, in the year 2019, the total output yield was 301.55 MWh, only 0.78 MWh less than the target yield.



Fig. 4.1. Monthly solar yield production of the Monash GCPV system in 2019

It is striking to observe the relationship of output yield to solar irradiation for March and December, as shown in Fig. 4.2, which proves that the yield of the GCPV system is highly sensitive to solar irradiation. The highest and lowest daily energy yields were produced on 16th March (Fig. 6a) and 7th December 2019 (Fig. 4.2b), respectively. Further, the number of days that did not achieve

the target yield was higher in December than March. This is due to the high amount of rain from the northeast monsoon and the frequent cloudy days between November and February. For some days, the GCPV system was shaded by clouds for the entire daytime. Thus, the weather conditions (cloud cover, rain, the position of the sun, etc.) are the most influential factors in the performance of the GCPV system, and the target yield cannot be the same for all months in a year. If the target yield for December had been the same as March, then the actual yield in December would have been far lower than the target yield. It is vital to set the target yield based on the weather conditions of that month. Therefore, the target yield for March is 27209.50 kWh as compared to 21162.95 kWh for December. Previous researchers [38, 142] have also agreed that there is a strong relationship between solar irradiation and energy production (yield) of the PV system. Recently, Allouhi et al. [143] reported that the most dominant parameter in computing the final yield is the solar irradiations falling on the panel surfaces.



Fig. 4.2. Solar yield production of Monash GCPV system in (a) March 2019 and (b) December 2019

Fig. 4.3 depicts the highest and lowest hourly AC power output of the GCPV system on 11th February and 7th December 2019, respectively. The trend of AC power output (kW) from the GCPV system follows the profile of solar irradiance. The profile shown in Fig. 4.3a is a typical sunny clear day of the year 2019, and hence, the highest amount of power generation was recorded on 11th February 2019. Usually, the PV system starts generating energy at ~7:30 am, soon after sunrise, and it increases sharply till the sun reaches its peak at ~1.00 pm, after which it starts declining until sunset at around 7.30 pm. When the lowest AC power output from the GCPV system was recorded on 7th December 2019 (Fig. 4.3b), there were clouds and rain for the whole day. Despite the cloudy day, the solar PV plant was still able to produce energy, likely due to diffused solar irradiation that can penetrate the clouds. Nevertheless, the energy production on cloudy days is not consistent and

does not show any specific pattern, unlike a clear sunny day (Fig. 4.3a Not all days of the year are the same, and consequently, the profile of the power generation from the GCPV system is also different for each day of the year. The solar cells are dependent on solar irradiation, and any slight shading decreases energy production. Khan et al. [144] found that the level of solar irradiance falling on the PV module is very sensitive to cloud thickness and patches of clouds. In their study, solar irradiance dropped between 300 to 600 W/m² due to a sudden patch of the cloud. However, the present study recorded even much lower solar irradiance (100 W/m²) for the whole day, clearly signifying thick and heavy patch of clouds. The PV module temperature is usually similar to the ambient temperature on cloudy days since there is very low solar radiation. This results in very low power generation output from the GCPV system.



Fig. 4.3. Daily AC power output of the Monash GCPV system (a) highest in the year 2019 and (b) lowest in the year 2019

4.1.2 Performance Ratio (PR), Capacity Utilization Factor (CUF), and system efficiency

The average PR, CUF, and system efficiency of the Monash GCPV system for the year 2019 were 85.4%, 14.85%, and 9.15%, respectively, as presented in Fig. 4.4. The highest PR of 91% was observed in March and the lowest of 80% in October. The value of PR higher than 80% indicates the good performance of the GCPV plant, whereas below 75% designate problems [89]. The actual PR achieved the target values for January, March, April, October, November, and December, but was lower for the other months, mainly due to weather and climatic effects. This follows the same trend as yield production (Fig. 4.1). One of the ways to maximize the actual PR in order to reach or exceed the target PR is to reduce system losses, either by selecting the appropriate module technology (crystalline, CIS, CdTe, and thin-film) or by decreasing the module temperature.

However, there are minimal options to enhance a lower PR due to weather conditions, as these are beyond the control of operators, in particular, the shading created by clouds. Moreover, the climate can change very rapidly in a tropical climate like Malaysia. Therefore, the target PR was only reached or exceeded for half the months of the year. The PR from the present study is compared with other solar PV systems across the globe in a later section.



Fig. 4.4. Monthly average PR, CUF and system efficiency of Monash GCPV system

The average monthly CUF of the present GCPV system ranged from 12.6% (in December) to 17.1% (in March), with an average of 14.85%. These results are similar to those observed in earlier studies. [145] for a tropical climate such as Malaysia. According to Vasisht et al. [72], the CUF of the system is mainly dependent on the global horizontal solar irradiation at the specific location, and the PV module efficiency. Thus, there is a relation between solar irradiation and the CUF values. Again, CUF is very specific to the location and geographical conditions and may not necessarily indicate the performance of the solar PV system. For instance, the mean CUF for Slovenia (a region that faces long-existing snow barriers) was 11.85%, with very few solar PV systems reaching over 15% [146]. Another possible observation found by Kumar et al. [81] was that CUF varied between 15.25 and 16.33% based on the PV technologies (crystalline, CIS, and CdTe). The average CUF (14.85%) of the present GCPV system was close to their CUF (15.24%) value for crystalline PV technology and in the same location (Malaysia). As reported [87], in a hot and dry climate such as Oman, the CUF values ranged between 17% and 25.8%, with an average of 21.7%. Another study [114] presented a minimum of 12.1%, a maximum of 32.5%, and an average of 25.54% CUF corresponding to solar power plants in Saudi Arabia. Interestingly, the CUF in a temperate climate like New Zealand can be as low as 4.5% to as high as 21.0%, with an average of 12.5% [147].

The system efficiency in this study was found to be relatively stable, with minimal fluctuations throughout the year, as depicted in Fig. 4.4. The average was 9.15%, with a minimum in October (8.68%) and a maximum in March (9.76%). It was difficult to compare the system

efficiency of the present GCPV system with prior studies [71, 88] because only two researchers have calculated the GCPV system efficiency in Malaysia. The first study [148] reported an average system efficiency of 8.05%, which is lower than the average system efficiency (9.15%) of the present GCPV system. This may be due to their higher average module temperature (~10°C) than the average module temperature recorded in the present study. The second study [149] reported system efficiency of eight different types of PV module technologies in Malaysia, and surprisingly it ranged from 6% to 14%. The combination of CdTe-Mono showed the highest efficiency. Notably, the system efficiency is very responsive to solar irradiation and module temperature [103, 150], which in turn depends on the sun's position. Therefore, system efficiency usually fluctuates along the time, even for each day. However, the fluctuation observed in our study is not that significant. Interestingly, the system efficiency of the present GCPV system was observed to be higher in January, February, and March may be due to clearer (sunny) days and lowest in October, November, and December, which could be owing to more cloudy days. In addition to this, the inverter efficiency is 98% throughout the year with negligible or no fluctuations.

4.1.3 System loss and array capture loss

The DC energy output data was not available for some days due to a malfunction of the data logger or connection errors. Therefore, the system loss and array capture loss for the day that produced the highest energy in a month is provided in Fig. 4.5. The system loss varied between 0.017 h/day in October to 2.980 h/day in February. It was also higher in January, February, and March, as was the energy yield. Interestingly, the system loss is comparatively stable from April to December but higher during the first three months of the year. This could be attributed in part to inverter error or to temperature losses from different components, particularly the PV modules, as a result of high temperatures. According to Trillo-Montero et al. [151], system losses are higher during the summertime. The trend of system loss and array capture loss of the present GCPV is similar to a previous study by Ayompe et al [106],], however, the system loss values are somewhat higher than they report. The array capture loss of the present GCPV system showed negative results from January to March, then improved from April and varied slightly until December. A previous study [38] also observed negative capture loss for solar PV systems, indicating a solar PV system will take less time to produce DC energy at its nominal power capacity.



Fig. 4.5. System loss and array capture loss of the highest energy produced in a day of each month

Partial shading can also lower the capture loss to a negative value [152]. Similarly, the capture losses are also related to the temperature of the PV module, which in turn is dependent on the weather and wind speed [153, 154]. In the present case, the capture loss is relatively high with values of 1 h/d could be due to shading factor since there are months with no rainfall or El-Nino effect (large-scale ocean-atmosphere climate interaction linked to periodic warming in sea surface temperatures across the central and east-central equatorial region). During the El-Nino period, the weather becomes warmer for a more extended period or month with little or no rainfall. Therefore, the ambient temperature rises, and consequently, it might affect the PV module temperature. The correlation between system loss and capture loss is interesting because the GCPV system incurred more capture losses than system losses from April to December and vice versa from January to March. There are several reasons behind the capture losses, such as shading, soiling, maximum power point tracking errors, inverter failure, circuit breaker tripping, faulty PV modules, solar irradiation measurement errors, and prolonged grid power outages [154].

4.1.4 Statistical analysis on the effect of various parameters on PV output

Statistical analysis was performed to analyse and develop a model to predict and assess the performance of the GCPV system. A linear model ($y=190.75\times$ solar irradiation+33.44) between average solar irradiation (kWh/m2) and the amount of total AC yield (kWh) is shown in Fig. 4.6. It showed a high coefficient of determination R² of 0.916, indicating the measured data fit well with the linear model. This finding is consistent with the relationship witnessed by previous studies [84, 155, 156]. A strong positive linear relationship exists between the solar irradiation and AC yield with a Pearson correlation value of 0.957. Further, this correlation is highly significant since the p-value < 0.05. For the solar irradiation, the t-test statistics is 62.760 (p-value < 0.05). This concludes that at a 5% level of significance, solar irradiation is a highly statistically significant variable in predicting AC yield.

The data population was concentrated between 3 and 5 kWh/m2 of solar irradiation, corresponding to an AC yield production range of 600 to 1000 kWh. The total AC yield is 800 kWh at average solar irradiation of 4.15 kWh/m². The data population beyond 5 kWh/m² solar irradiation is sparse since the highest irradiation that can be achieved on an apparently sunny day is limited to 6 ± 0.5 kWh/m². The smaller data population below 3 kWh/m2 corresponds to a reduced total AC yield due to cloud and rainy days, while beyond 3 kWh/m2 shows a higher total AC yield when the days are clearer. Therefore, months that experience clear sunny days can easily achieve the target AC yield and PR compared to months with more cloudy days.

It was also found that PV module temperature also substantially affects the AC power output, as depicted in Fig. 4.7. The AC power output and module temperatures are linearly related ($y = 4.0741 \times module \ temp - 104.84$) with a coefficient of determination (R²) of 0.914, indicating about 91% of the variation in AC power is explained by regression on the module temperature. This finding further seems to be steady with the result of [59]. They also found a linear relation with the R² of 0.8405. Like the previous model, the statistical analysis of PV module temperature and the AC power showed a strong positive linear relationship due to a high Pearson correlation value of 0.956 as well as this correlation is highly statistically significant (p-value < 0.05). For the PV module temperature, the t-test statistics are 1054.385 (p-value < 0.05), concluding that the module temperature is highly statistically significant in predicting AC power at a 5% level of significance.



Fig. 4.6. Correlation between total AC yield from Monash GCPV and solar irradiation of the location

The total AC power produced from the GCPV system at average PV module temperature (40 °C) was about 58.00 kW, while at NOCT (45 °C) of the PV module, it is ~78.50 kW. This corroborates earlier findings [75, 157, 158] of a strong positive correlation between PV module temperature, solar irradiation, and PV mounting structure (freestanding or rooftop). However, for the present study, it is observed that solar irradiation has a more significant effect than the PV module

temperature because statistically, the model suggests that with an increase in solar irradiation by 1 kWh/m², the value of the AC yield would increase on an average by 190.75 kWh. Whereas, for every 1 °C increase in PV module temperature, the AC power will increase by 4.074 kW.



Fig. 4.7. Correlation between total AC power of Monash GCPV and module temperature (Minimum – 22 °C taken at nighttime; Average – 45 °C taken during the daytime; Maximum – 70 °C took during the daytime)

4.1.5 Economic analysis

The Monash GCPV system was installed through the self-consumption (SEL-CO) program; the electricity generated from the system is used by the campus building and any excess electricity cannot be sold back to the grid. For the LCOE calculation, factors such as the total lifespan of the solar PV system (25 years), the current interest rate (2.75%) [159], the discount and inflation rates (3.2% and 0.66%) [160], and and the average annual energy production, are considered. The Monash GCPV was installed at a capital cost of MYR 744,560 for a life span of 25 years. Based on this, the LCOE for the Monash GCPV installation is 0.396 MYR/kWh. This is considerably lower than the predicted LCOE for Malaysia in 2020 calculated by Matin et al. to be 0.49 MYR/kWh [161]. In their study, they also reported that BOS (balance of system) costs accounted for more than 30% of the LCOE in Malaysia. A previous study [162] reported a higher LCOE of 0.91 RM/kWh in 2014 due to higher interest and inflation rate at that time. They have also predicted that within 2029 Malaysia will achieve grid parity, which means the cost of PV system generation will be equal to or lower than the cost of conventional power plants. However, from the present study, it is evident that the current LCOE is very close to the per-unit electricity cost (0.365 RM/kWh) of the conventional fossil fuel-based power plants.

Using the commercial C1 electricity tariff (0.365 RM/kWh and 30.3 RM/kW for maximum demand) of TNB (Tenega Nasional Berhad) utility company, a significant reduction in the monthly electricity cost was observed (Fig. 4.8) by installing the present GCPV system in 2019. In total, about RM 110,067.00 (~USD 25,250.00 based on currency exchange when the paper was written) was saved by the present GCPV system in 2019, which was very close to the set target savings of RM 110,349 (~USD 25,315.00). As the energy output is assumed on an average to be constant for 25 years, the payback period is estimated at 6.7 years for the GCPV system, which is just one-fourth of the system life span. This shorter payback period is highly attractive since, after seven years of installation, the Monash campus can gain profit and significant savings until the GCPV lifetime. For the economic feasibility of a GCPV system, a payback period of 8-18 years is recommended [163]. Moreover, the payback period of the present GCPV system will significantly contribute to reducing the annual electricity cost.



Fig. 4.8. Monthly cost reduction by Monash Malaysia GCPV system.

4.1.6 Environmental analysis

Based on the yield (301,554.2 kWh) generated by the Monash GCPV system, a total of approximately 177 metric tons of CO2 is avoided in the year 2019. The impact of this reduction is equivalent to a reduced oil equivalent to 228.42 barrels per year.

4.1.7 Comparison of Monash Grid-connected Photovoltaic with other Grid-connected Photovoltaic systems in the world

Table 4.1 presents a comparison of GCPV system (only Mc-Si) performance across the world. The primary focusing parameters of the comparison are PR, CUF, system efficiency, and inverter efficiency. Remarkably, the PR (85.4%) of the current GCPV system is higher than that of the other studies in Table 2, mostly due to the decent climate condition. Interestingly, a lower PR of 59% was also reported in Malaysia by Yacob et al. [165], due to the stochastic condition at site and the series configuration of the array. However, the reasons for the lower PR in India mainly attribute to dust as reported by Pritam et al. [166]. Typically, the CUF ranged from 15% to 40% [69]; however, with an average CUF of 14.85%, the present GCPV system has an acceptable level of productivity. The present study showed a moderate performance that is close to the reported studies In contrast to the CUF and system efficiency, the inverter used in the current study showed a higher efficiency (98%) than the other systems.

Location, references	PV technology	Installed capacity	PR (%)	CUF (%)	System efficiency	Inverter efficiency
		(kWp)	(, , ,	(, , ,	(%)	(%)
India, 2020 [99]	Mc-Si	50,000.00	79.94	24.65	N/Á	N/A
Algeria, 2019 [38]	Mc-Si	28.00	71.89	18.58	10.99	96.46
Turkey, 2019, [167]	Mc-Si	84.75	72.90	N/A	N/A	N/A
India, 2018 [166]	Mc-Si	40.00	63.00	9.00	8.51	90.90
Ghana, 2017 [75]	Mc-Si	4.00	67.90	11.47	N/A	N/A
Morocco, 2016	Mc-Si	2.04	79.60	N/A	12.10	N/A
[143] Abu Dhabi,2015	Mc-Si	111.60	80.00	16.00	N/A	97.30
[108] Malaysia, 2016 [164]	Mc-Si	5.00	73.50	18.00	11.93	N/A
Malaysia, 2015	Mc-Si	3.00	77.28	15.70	N/A	95.15
Malaysia, 2014 [165]	Mc-Si	10.00	59.00	32.00	11	N/A
Present Study, Malaysia	Mc-Si	232.50	85.40	14.85	9.15	98.00

Table 4.1. Comparison of GCPV performance from different regions of the world

4.2 Techno-economic analysis of proposed Monash Grid-connected Photovoltaic system using HOMER Grid

In this section, the design of GCPV system to fulfil the electricity load demand of buildings B7 and B3 is presented. According to the given input parameters and constraints, simulation and optimization have been carried out using HOMER Grid software. Selling excess electricity to the grid has not been considered in the simulation as it is not the option available in Malaysia. Alternatively, the commercial sectors can opt for NEM where they can sell all the electricity produced from GCPV to the grid with displace cost of one to one. Therefore, the main objective is self-consumption and to find the optimum and most economically feasible GCPV system capacity to reduce the MD for B3 and B7.

4.2.1 Optimal sizing of the GCPV system to reduce the MD of Building 3 and Building 7 using HOMER Grid

As mentioned in chapter 3, B3 consumes the highest amount of electricity among all Monash buildings. If the GCPV is proposed for this building what will be techno-economic feasibility and the solution is provided by HOMER Grid. HOMER Grid eliminates all infeasible solutions (e.g., due to not having power sources, lacking converters, etc.) and ranks all feasible solutions according to total NPC, COE, O&M cost, as shown in Table 4.2. Based on these parameters, 866 kW capacity of the GCPV system is ranked #1 for building B3 to reduce the MD. HOMER Grid also optimizes the results based on yearly operating cost, initial capital, the renewable fraction (RF), emission and simple payback period. The layout design of the proposed GCPV system is shown in Fig. 4.9.



Fig. 4.9. Layout design of proposed GCPV system for building B3

			Architectu	Architecture			Cost			
ä	食	Z	JAM72S01 (kW)	C1 🔻	36KTL-M (kW)	NPC (RM)	COE (RM) T	Operating cost (RM/yr)	Initial capital (RM)	
	X	Z	866	1	342	RM12.1M	RM0.357	RM536,212	RM2.51M	
	宜	Z	838	1	346	RM12.1M	RM0.357	RM539,799	RM2.44M	
	宜	Z	866	1	349	RM12.1M	RM0.357	RM535,848	RM2.51M	
â	愈	Z	866	1	335	RM12.1M	RM0.357	RM536,717	RM2.50M	
ä	宜	Z	811	1	342	RM12.1M	RM0.357	RM543,939	RM2.37M	
ä	宜	Z	865	1	356	RM12.1M	RM0.357	RM535,596	RM2.52M	
ä	愈	Z	811	1	349	RM12.1M	RM0.357	RM543,588	RM2.38M	
â	愈	Z	811	1	335	RM12.1M	RM0.357	RM544,419	RM2.36M	
	食	\mathbb{Z}	865	1	328	RM12.1M	RM0.357	RM537,393	RM2.49M	
â	食	Z	920	1	342	RM12.1M	RM0.357	RM529,144	RM2.64M	
â	愈	Z	920	1	349	RM12.1M	RM0.357	RM528,753	RM2.65M	
ä	文	\mathbb{Z}	1,731	1	228	RM13.8M	RM0.407	RM516,488	RM4.56M	
ä	愈	\mathbb{Z}	2,596	1	342	RM14.7M	RM0.433	RM439,976	RM6.83M	
ä	遼	Z	2,596	1	570	RM14.9M	RM0.439	RM438,184	RM7.06M	
	文			1		RM15.1M	RM0.446	RM845,815	RM0.00	
	X			1		RM15.1M	RM0.446	RM845,815	RM0.00	
ä	宜	Z	3,462	1	456	RM16.7M	RM0.492	RM423,327	RM9.11M	
ä	食	\mathbf{X}	3,462	1	684	RM16.9M	RM0.499	RM423,555	RM9.34M	
â	愈	X	3,462	1	228	RM17.5M	RM0.516	RM482,432	RM8.88M	
**	宜	\mathbf{X}	5,193	1	456	RM20.8M	RM0.612	RM409,838	RM13.4M	
ř.	愈	Z	5,193	1	684	RM21.0M	RM0.619	RM410,066	RM13.7M	
ä	岔	2	5,193	1	228	RM21.7M	RM0.638	RM471,426	RM13.2M	

Table 4.2. Ranking of different combinations simulated in HOMER Grid for building B3

It is estimated that the proposed system would save about RM 7.78 million throughout the project lifetime (25 years), with an NPC of 12.1 million, a simple payback period of 8.1 years, and an IRR of 12%. The integration of 866 kWp solar PV with the grid system would reduce the electricity bill by 63.3%. Similar reduction in utility bills of ~ 62.1% was reported by Fang et al. [162]. However, to achieve this reduction, they have integrated energy storage (battery) with the GCPV system. In our study, no battery is used due to the high capital cost, yet the electricity bill's savings are slightly higher than the saving reported by Fang et al. [169]. This could be because of tariff rates, solar irradiation resources, location and incentives available. Likewise, Subramani et al. [170] revealed that the solar PV-battery system's optimal sizing is subsidized to the electricity bill savings up to 20% of a university building's net consumption. Capital investment cost and O&M costs are used to evaluate the basic economic metrics of the self-consumption GCPV system. Indeed, the GCPV system requires a higher capital cost than only the grid system; while having the lowest O&M cost due to the least amount of grid purchase. Specifically, for MD, RM 36,971 will be saved annually by the proposed

GCPV system. The selected GCPV system offers the lowest COE of 0.357 RM/kWh. Interestingly, the COE offered by the proposed system was lower than other study done in Malaysia. For example, Ali et al. [171] performed a techno-economic analysis of the GCPV/T system in Malaysia and found the COE to be 0.81 RM/kWh. For the GCPV system in Oman, the COE was found to be 0.2258 USD/kWh (0.94 RM/kWh). This is due to the high electricity tariff rate in Oman, compare to Malaysia.

Further, the proposed system for B3 has a significant impact on the environment. It can reduce the CO2 emission up to 60%. The GCPV system is able to reduce the AC primary load and MD for each month of building B3 as shown in Fig 5.2. The major advantage is that the peak load profile (Fig. 4.10) of the building B3 (i.e. in daytime from 9 am to 5 pm) matches with the solar irradiation profile in the daytime (Fig. 4.3). this cause in significant reduction in the peak load from 250 kW to about 50 kW in the mid-day. This is because solar irradiation is at the peak during this time.

Further analysis was directed to building B7 that had a lowest electricity consumption compared to other buildings in Monash campus. For this building, 396 kW capacity of GCPV is enough to reduce the MD, as shown in Fig. 4.11. Likewise, in the previous building, during the simulation process, several feasible solutions were simulated and provided by HOMER as listed in Table 4.3. Apparently, the ranking was based on the main objective function of HOMER i.e. total NPC, followed by COE, operating cost and then initial capital cost. Among all the options, a GCPV system with capacity of 396 kW and converter rating of 176 kW was found to be the most optimized system for B7, since it results in a lowest NPC, and initial capital cost. Based on total NPC, COE, O&M cost, all feasible solutions' ranking is shown in Table 4.3.



Fig 4.10 Average hourly MD, a) Before the proposed system, b) After the proposed system of building B3

			Architectu	ıre		Cost			
ä	食	Z	JAM72S01 (kW)	C1 🔻	36KTL-M (kW)	NPC (RM) 🚺 🔻	COE (RM) 🚺 🍸	Operating cost (RM/yr)	Initial capital (RM)
	ТÂТ	1	396	1	176	RM4.63M	RM0.373	RM193,657	RM1 17M
*	愈	Z	405	1	178	RM4.63M	RM0.373	RM192,258	RM1.19M
*	宜	Z	396	1	181	RM4.64M	RM0.373	RM193,475	RM1.17M
	宜	Z	396	1	170	RM4.64M	RM0.373	RM194,134	RM1.16M
*	贪	Z	371	1	174	RM4.64M	RM0.373	RM197,464	RM1.10M
*	宜	Z	368	1	178	RM4.64M	RM0.374	RM197,712	RM1.10M
ä	贪	Z	424	1	178	RM4.64M	RM0.374	RM189,831	RM1.24M
	愈	Z	422	1	174	RM4.64M	RM0.374	RM190,432	RM1.23M
ä	宜	Z	396	1	187	RM4.64M	RM0.374	RM193,317	RM1.18M
ä	愈	Z	355	1	170	RM4.64M	RM0.374	RM200,306	RM1.06M
	愈	Z	356	1	185	RM4.65M	RM0.374	RM199,381	RM1.08M
ä	贫	\mathbb{X}	158	1	187	RM5.10M	RM0.411	RM252,404	RM582,530
ä	宜	Z	633	1	107	RM5.27M	RM0.424	RM199,755	RM1.69M
ä	贪	Z	950	1	160	RM5.42M	RM0.436	RM160,933	RM2.54M
	愈	Z	950	1	267	RM5.44M	RM0.438	RM156,360	RM2.64M
	食			1		RM5.78M	RM0.465	RM322,509	RM30.30
	食			1		RM5.78M	RM0.465	RM322,509	RM30.30
	食	Z	1,267	1	213	RM6.04M	RM0.487	RM148,746	RM3.38M
	食	X	1,267	1	320	RM6.15M	RM0.495	RM148,853	RM3.49M
ä	食	\mathbb{Z}	1,267	1	107	RM6.63M	RM0.534	RM187,290	RM3.27M
<u>**</u>	贪	X	1,900	1	213	RM7.50M	RM0.604	RM141,369	RM4.96M
*	愈	Z	1,900	1	320	RM7.60M	RM0.612	RM141,476	RM5.07M

Table 4.3. Ranking of different combinations simulated in HOMER Grid for building B7



Fig. 4.11. Layout design of proposed GCPV system for building B7

The proposed GCPV (ranked #1 in Table 4.3) for B3 would result in a saving of about RM 2.32 million throughout the project lifetime, with a simple payback period of 9 years and an IRR of 10%. The NPC for the proposed system is RM 4.63 million. The COE of the proposed system for B7 is 0.373 RM/kWh, which is slightly higher than the COE for B3. This is because the pattern of

electricity consumption in building B7 is different from other buildings. The main function of B7 is library and its operation hours are longer than other buildings in the campus. Usually, most of the buildings operation or activities are limited to at most 6.30 pm in the evening. However, library is opened until 10 pm in normal days and 11 pm during examination period. Therefore, both centralized air-condition system has to be operated for cooling purpose and lights for learning and reading activities. Even though the proposed system could reduce the MD during the daytime, a significant demand still exists in the night-time also as presented in Fig. 4.12. it is quite evident from the AC load profile, that the load demand extends beyond 6 pm. The reduction in peak demand after 6 pm is due to closing of certain offices and activities in this building. The daytime MD can be reduced by the installed solar PV system; however, night-time MD cannot be compensated with solar PV. This could have increased the COE for B7. Further, present system generates 50% less CO2 emission than the only grid system. Interestingly, during early morning the load is nearly 10-15 kW for the first seven months of the year except for June. However, this trend suddenly changed from August until November. A detailed techno-economic comparison of B3 and B7 is presented in Table 4.4. It is evident from this table that GCPV system perform better than only grid system for both buildings. Interestingly, for building B3, the solar integration is slightly lower than building B7. However, building B3 has higher annual savings of RM 311,243, which is RM 181,622 higher than building B7.



Fig 4.12 Average hourly MD, a) Before the proposed system, b) After the proposed system of building B7

Parameters	В	33	B7		
i arameters	Grid	GCPV	Grid	GCPV	
PV capacity, kW	0	866	0	396	
CAPEX, RM million	0	2.51	0	1.16	
OPEX, RM	845,815	536,212	322,509	193,657	
Annual MD charges, RM/yr	154,064	117,093	69,446	61,128	
Annual energy charges, RM/yr	691,751	417,479	253,093	131,791	
LCOE, RM/kWh	0.446	0.357	0.465	0.373	
Net Present Cost (NPC), RM million	15.1	12.1	5.7	4.6	
Annual total savings, RM	0	311,243	0	129,621	
CO2 emission, t/year	1197.8	722.9	438.2	228.2	
Renewable fraction, %	0	39.1	0	47.9	
Grid purchased energy, kWh/year	1,895,208	1,143,779	693,405	361,070	

Table 4.4 Detail techno-economic comparison between the current grid system and proposed

 system of building B3 and B7

4.2.2 Architectural constraint

Architectural integration of solar PV system in the rooftop area of any building is a major issue in the development and installation of the GCPV systems. The mechanical specification of solar PV panel is the major parameter to assess the architectural feasibility of any rooftop GCPV system. The mechanical specification for JA solar PV panel is –

 $W_{mod} = 0.991$ m; $L_{mod} = 1.96$ m. Based on this specification and methodology mentioned in chapter 3, the total available area in Monash to install solar PV is given below in Table 4.5.

Table 4.5 Total no. of solar PV that can be installed on the Monash campus building rooftop as per the architectural constraint

Building	Wroof	Lroof	Total number of PV modules that can	PV system capacity
No	[m]	[m]	be installed	(kWp)
Building 2	23.2	57.88	667	246.8
Building 3	15.01	86.39	602	222.74
Building 5	23.03	68.33	782	289.34
Building 9	22.36	36.67	396	146.52

Building 6	27.34	42.24	567	209.79
Building 7	0	0	0	0
Total	110.94	291.51	3014	1115.19

It is evident from Table 4.5 that building B3 does not have enough space to install the proposed solar PV system. Further, as the rooftop of building B7 is used for terrace garden, it is not suitable for PV installation. However, the allowable PV system capacity in the available area of the rooftop of whole Monash campus is 1115.19 kWp with 3014 number of PV modules. Therefore, only 866 kWp (for building B3) or 396 kWp (for building B7) can be installed on the rooftop of the available space (for 1115.19 kWp) on the campus. Recently, Manoj et al.[81] reported that 4284 PV modules of 235 Wp each were required for a typical 1 MWp plant in Malaysia. However, in our study 3014 modules are enough to set up a 1.15 MWp GCPV plant. This is because of the higher PV module power of the solar PV panel considered in this study. Similarly, Obeng et al. [172] found that the amount of PV modules is highly depended on the specific PV module power or capacity. It was apparent from their finding that the difference in nominal power of individual module can increase the number of modules to ~2000 panels. in Jordan about 54,000 number of solar PV panels were used to install a 10 MWp solar PV plant as reported by Ayadi et al [173]. For the present study, indeed, a solar PV capacity of 866 kWp would significantly reduce the electricity cost, and therefore, it is highly recommended.

Chapter 5

Conclusions and future recommendations

5.1. Main conclusions

In this thesis, a performance analysis of a 232.5 kWp GCPV system was studied to observe the system behaviour under specific real climate conditions. In addition to that, a techno-economic analysis of an extended GCPV system was also performed to reduce the excessive MD. A detailed literature survey was carried out on the GCPV systems and its application in commercial buildings. An in-depth literature review has also recommended that commercial buildings in Malaysia consume a large amount of electricity, which ultimately incurs a high electricity bill in the form of MD. Hence, the GCPV system is a promising alternative to the conventional power system. However, it was found that the implementation of GCPV systems in commercial buildings is still new in Malaysia and needs detailed research in terms of performance evaluation, technical feasibility, and economic viability. Monash Malaysia campus commercial buildings were selected for this study and based on this the main objectives and methodology of the thesis were defined. Based on the results, the following conclusions are summarized:

The performance analysis carried out on Monash's existing GCPV system indicates that it is favourable to install and expand the GCPV in the second phase. The existing 232.5 kWp capacity GCPV system's energy production was about 301.5 MWh electricity for year 2019 which was slightly lower than the set target of 305 MWh. This system helped to reduce the total electricity cost of RM 110,067.00 (~USD 25,250.00) in 2019. Interestingly, the PR of the Monash Malaysian GCPV plant was higher than other surveyed system of the world. While other parameters such as CUF, and efficiencies were comparable to other systems. Solar irradiation emerged as the most significant factor that affects the GCPV system's performance, besides module temperature. The total yield production and solar irradiation were highest for March (due to more sunny days) and lowest in December (due to monsoon climate, means more cloudy days). The actual yield of GCPV achieved about 90 % of the set target yield in the year 2019; similar was the case for PR. The array capture loss was higher than the system loss during most of the month. Based on economic data, a payback period of 6.7 years is projected with an LCOE of 0.396 RM/kWh. The total cost saved in 2019 was a shortfall of just RM 282.00 than the target cost reduction. In one year, the GCPV system was able to reduce about 177 metric tons of CO2.
Overall, it will be technically viable, economically feasible and environmental impactful if Monash campus extends the installation of GCPV system on the rooftops of other buildings. The techno-economic study done on building B3 and B7 using HOMER Grid ranked GCPV system as number 1 in terms of least cost total NPC as well as can significantly reduce the MD of both buildings. For instance, in case of building B3, the proposed system would save about RM 7.78 million throughout the project lifetime (25 years), with an NPC of 12.1 million, simple payback of 8.1 years, and an IRR of 12%. Similarly, for B7, RM 2.32 million could be saved throughout the project lifetime, NPC of with a simple payback of 9 years and an IRR of 10%. The COE for B3 and B7 was 0.357 RM/kWh and 0.373 RM/kWh, respectively.

The findings from this thesis will serve as a base for future studies in the solar energy sector, and the method used can be applied elsewhere in the world. The target-oriented approach will benefit both the consumers and the solar service business to track the solar PV system's performance. The techno-economic approach can be used to install the GCPV system on similar conditions to the studied location. It is highly recommended that Monash campus senior management should continue with the plan to install GCPV system to other buildings.

5.2 Future recommendations

Following are the future recommendations to extend this research work:

- Performance analysis could be carried out for following years (i.e. beyond 2019) of operation to compare with existing year.
- The developed model using statistical analysis can serve as strong tool to predict the GCPV output in the future. The research work can be extended in this area.
- The system and capture losses can be evaluated in detail
- Techno-economic feasibility study can be extended to other buildings of Monash campus. More comprehensive and detailed study can be possible but with proper electricity load data of each building that needs to be monitored and stored.
- Simulation work using HOMER grid can be refined further to evaluate more feasible options.
- More variability and parameters can be considered in HOMER Grid
- The study can be extended by including sensitivity in the HOMER Grid and the technoeconomic study can be carried out for whole campus buildings in the future. This was limited because of lack and inconsistency of load data in the present study.

- The architectural constraint design can be further analysed to refine the HOMER grid results
- Other energy efficient approaches would also contribute to the overall reduction in the MD of the buildings
- Techno-economic feasibility evaluation could be carried out for a grid-connected photovoltaic energy conversion system on the rooftop of a typical residential building in Kuala Lumpur, one of the major cities in Malaysia.
- Optimal configuration for a 1 MW GCPV plant in one of the major cities can be numerically discovered.
- Solar energy status in Malaysia Plans can be further investigated, and the techniques used in various techno-economic and economic feasibility studies on the implementation of solar energy system can be analysed in future.
- The potential energy generation and cost effectiveness for hypothetical 5, 8, and 10 kWh PV sizes under several financial scenarios can be carried out using Renewable Energy Project Analysis Software (RETScreen).

References

[1] Total electricity consumption. International Energy Agency. (2019).

[2] Z. Liu. Global energy interconnection. Academic Press2015.

[3] I.E. Agency. Electricity Information Overview 2018. (2019).

[4] A. Khamis, A. Alamshah, A. Ahmad, A. Ab Rahman, M.H. Hairi. Energy & Electricity consumption analysis of Malaysian power demand. 2010 4th International Power Engineering and Optimization Conference (PEOCO). IEEE2010. pp. 463-7.

[5] www.ceicdata.com. Department of Statisitics. (2019).

[6] Electricity Sector in Malaysia. Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2018).

[7] N. Somu, G.R. MR, K. Ramamritham. A hybrid model for building energy consumption forecasting using long short term memory networks. Applied Energy. 261 (2020) 114131.

[8] C. Spandagos, T.L. Ng. Equivalent full-load hours for assessing climate change impact on building cooling and heating energy consumption in large Asian cities. Applied energy. 189 (2017) 352-68.

[9] I. Mead. International Energy Outlook 2017. US Energy InformationAdministration. (2017). [10] IEA. Tracking Buildings 2020. IEA, Paris, 2020.

[11] X. Cao, X. Dai, J. Liu. Building energy-consumption status worldwide and the state-of-the-art technologies for zero-energy buildings during the past decade. Energy and buildings. 128 (2016) 198-213.

[12] L. Tribioli, R. Cozzolino. Techno-economic analysis of a stand-alone microgrid for a commercial building in eight different climate zones. Energy Conversion and Management. 179 (2019) 58-71.

[13] A. Mahesh, K.S. Sandhu. Hybrid wind/photovoltaic energy system developments: Critical review and findings. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 52 (2015) 1135-47.

[14] A. Akella, R. Saini, M.P. Sharma. Social, economical and environmental impacts of renewable energy systems. Renewable Energy. 34 (2009) 390-6.

[15] Climate Analysis Indicators Tool. World Resources Institute. (2017).

[16] https://www.climatewatchdata.org/data-explorer/historical-emissions. 2016.

[17] A.S. Ahmad, M.Y. Hassan, H. Abdullah, H.A. Rahman, M.S. Majid, M. Bandi. Energy efficiency measurements in a Malaysian public university. 2012 IEEE International Conference on Power and Energy (PECon). IEEE2012. pp. 582-7.

[18] E. Commission, S. Tenaga. Malaysia Energy Information Hub. 2015.

[19] W.S.W. Abdullah, M. Osman, M.Z.A. Ab Kadir, R. Verayiah. The potential and status of renewable energy development in Malaysia. Energies. 12 (2019) 2437.

[20] A.W. Azhari, K. Sopian, A. Zaharim, M. Al Ghoul. A new approach for predicting solar radiation in tropical environment using satellite images–case study of Malaysia. WSEAS Transactions on Environment and Development. 4 (2008) 373-8.

[21] A. Kaabeche, M. Belhamel, R. Ibtiouen. Techno-economic valuation and optimization of integrated photovoltaic/wind energy conversion system. Solar energy. 85 (2011) 2407-20.

[22] B. Sørensen. PV power and heat production: an added value. 16th European Photovoltaic Solar Energy Conference. Earthscan Publications Ltd2000. pp. 1848-51.

[23] Y. Ueda, K. Kurokawa, T. Itou, K. Kitamura, K. Akanuma, M. Yokota, et al. Advanced analysis of grid-connected PV system's performance and effect of battery. IEEJ Transactions on Power and Energy. 127 (2007) 247-58.

[24] F. Kemausuor, M.D. Sedzro, I. Osei. Decentralised Energy Systems in Africa: Coordination and Integration of Off-Grid and Grid Power Systems—Review of Planning Tools to Identify Renewable Energy Deployment Options for Rural Electrification in Africa. Current Sustainable/Renewable Energy Reports. 5 (2018) 214-23.

[25] https://www.power-technology.com/. GlobalData. (2019).

[26] V. Karthikeyan, S. Rajasekar, V. Das, P. Karuppanan, A.K. Singh. Grid-connected and off-grid solar photovoltaic system. Smart Energy Grid Design for Island Countries. Springer2017. pp. 125-57.

[27] V.K. Sood, H. Abdelgawad. Power converter solutions and controls for green energy.

Distributed Energy Resources in Microgrids. Elsevier2019. pp. 357-87.

[28] I.E. Agency. Renewables Information 20182018.

[29] IEA PVPS Annual Report. PHOTOVOLTAIC POWER SYSTEMS PROGRAMME. International Energy Agency2018.

[30] D. Talavera, E. Muñoz-Cerón, J. De La Casa, M. Ortega, G. Almonacid. Energy and economic analysis for large-scale integration of small photovoltaic systems in buildings: The case of a public location in Southern Spain. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 15 (2011) 4310-9.

[31] H. Wu, S. Wang, B. Zhao, C. Zhu. Energy management and control strategy of a gridconnected PV/battery system. International Transactions on Electrical Energy Systems. 25 (2015) 1590-602.

[32] J.L. Bernal-Agustín, R. Dufo-López. Economical and environmental analysis of grid connected photovoltaic systems in Spain. Renewable energy. 31 (2006) 1107-28.

[33] J. Khan, M.H. Arsalan. Solar power technologies for sustainable electricity generation–A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 55 (2016) 414-25.

[34] A.N. Celik. Present status of photovoltaic energy in Turkey and life cycle techno-economic analysis of a grid-connected photovoltaic-house. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 10 (2006) 370-87.

[35] J. Wong, Y.S. Lim, J.H. Tang, E. Morris. Grid-connected photovoltaic system in Malaysia: A review on voltage issues. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 29 (2014) 535-45.

[36] S. Vavilapalli, S. Padmanaban, U. Subramaniam, L. Mihet-Popa. Power balancing control for grid energy storage system in photovoltaic applications—Real time digital simulation implementation. Energies. 10 (2017) 928.

[37] G. Swaminathan, V. Ramesh, S. Umashankar, P. Sanjeevikumar. Investigations of microgrid stability and optimum power sharing using robust control of grid tie pv inverter. Advances in Smart Grid and Renewable Energy. Springer2018. pp. 379-87.

[38] N. Sahouane, R. Dabou, A. Ziane, A. Neçaibia, A. Bouraiou, A. Rouabhia, et al. Energy and economic efficiency performance assessment of a 28 kWp photovoltaic grid-connected system under desertic weather conditions in Algerian Sahara. Renewable Energy. 143 (2019) 1318-30.
[39] E. Roumpakias, A. Stamatelos. Performance analysis of a grid-connected photovoltaic park after 6 years of operation. Renewable Energy. 141 (2019) 368-78.

[40] D. Chandrakant, P. Deepak, A. Anshul, K. Akash, S. Sudhakar, K. Murali Manohar, et al. Performance simulation of grid-connected rooftop solar PV system for small households: a case study of Ujjain. India Energy Reports. 4 (2018) 546-53.

[41] Business Rooftop Solar. 2020.

[42] www.st.gov.my. Malaysia Energy Statistics Handbook 2017.

[43] C. Chong, W. Ni, L. Ma, P. Liu, Z. Li. The use of energy in Malaysia: Tracing energy flows from primary source to end use. Energies. 8 (2015) 2828-66.

[44] S. Ahmad, R.M. Tahar. Selection of renewable energy sources for sustainable development of electricity generation system using analytic hierarchy process: A case of Malaysia. Renewable energy. 63 (2014) 458-66.

[45] Gas Reserves in Malaysia.

[46] M.F. Abd Hamid, H.G.A. Richard, N.A. Ramli. An analysis on energy consumption of two different commercial buildings in Malaysia. 2016 IEEE International Conference on Power and Energy (PECon). IEEE2016. pp. 344-9.

[47] J. Hassan, R. Zin, M. Abd Majid, S. Balubaid, M. Hainin. Building energy consumption in Malaysia: An overview. Jurnal Teknologi. 70 (2014).

[48] B.J.O. Oluseun Olubajo. Empirical study on rainfall patterns and construction programme provisions in Jos, Nigeria. (2017).

[49] G. Subramani, V.K. Ramachandaramurthy, S. Padmanaban, L. Mihet-Popa, F. Blaabjerg, J.M. Guerrero. Grid-tied photovoltaic and battery storage systems with Malaysian electricity tariff—A review on maximum demand shaving. Energies. 10 (2017) 1884.

[50] S.A. Al-Sanea, M. Zedan, S.A. Al-Ajlan. Effect of electricity tariff on the optimum insulationthickness in building walls as determined by a dynamic heat-transfer model. Applied Energy. 82 (2005) 313-30.

[51] R. Pacudan. Feed-in tariff vs incentivized self-consumption: Options for residential solar PV policy in Brunei Darussalam. Renewable Energy. 122 (2018) 362-74.

[52] A. Alajmi. Energy audit of an educational building in a hot summer climate. Energy and Buildings. 47 (2012) 122-30.

[53] N.T. Mbungu, R.C. Bansal, R. Naidoo, V. Miranda, M. Bipath. An optimal energy management system for a commercial building with renewable energy generation under real-time electricity prices. Sustainable cities and society. 41 (2018) 392-404.

[54] K. Aduda, T. Labeodan, W. Zeiler, G. Boxem. Demand side flexibility coordination in office buildings: A framework and case study application. Sustainable Cities and Society. 29 (2017) 139-58.

[55] K. Chua, Y. Lim, S. Morris. Peak reduction for commercial buildings using energy storage. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science2017.

[56] F. Sehar, M. Pipattanasomporn, S. Rahman. An energy management model to study energy and peak power savings from PV and storage in demand responsive buildings. Applied energy. 173 (2016) 406-17.

[57] R. Singh, R. Banerjee. Estimation of rooftop solar photovoltaic potential of a city. Solar Energy. 115 (2015) 589-602.

[58] C. Koo, T. Hong, H.S. Park, G. Yun. Framework for the analysis of the potential of the rooftop photovoltaic system to achieve the net-zero energy solar buildings. Progress in Photovoltaics: Research and Applications. 22 (2014) 462-78.

[59] J. Byrne, J. Taminiau, L. Kurdgelashvili, K.N. Kim. A review of the solar city concept and methods to assess rooftop solar electric potential, with an illustrative application to the city of Seoul. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 41 (2015) 830-44.

[60] J.B. Kodysh, O.A. Omitaomu, B.L. Bhaduri, B.S. Neish. Methodology for estimating solar potential on multiple building rooftops for photovoltaic systems. Sustainable Cities and Society. 8 (2013) 31-41.

[61] N.T. Mbungu, R.M. Naidoo, R.C. Bansal, M.W. Siti, D.H. Tungadio. An overview of renewable energy resources and grid integration for commercial building applications. Journal of Energy Storage. 29 (2020) 101385.

[62] L.G. Meegahapola, D. Robinson, A. Agalgaonkar, S. Perera, P. Ciufo. Microgrids of commercial buildings: Strategies to manage mode transfer from grid connected to islanded mode. IEEE Transactions on Sustainable Energy. 5 (2014) 1337-47.

[63] C. Ghenai, M. Bettayeb. Grid-tied solar PV/fuel cell hybrid power system for university building. Energy Procedia. 159 (2019) 96-103.

[64] P. Braun, R. Rüther. The role of grid-connected, building-integrated photovoltaic generation in commercial building energy and power loads in a warm and sunny climate. Energy Conversion and Management. 51 (2010) 2457-66.

[65] M.C. Bozchalui, R. Sharma. Optimal operation of commercial building microgrids using multiobjective optimization to achieve emissions and efficiency targets. 2012 IEEE Power and Energy Society General Meeting. IEEE2012. pp. 1-8.

[66] A. Safaei, F. Freire, C.H. Antunes. A model for optimal energy planning of a commercial building integrating solar and cogeneration systems. Energy. 61 (2013) 211-23.

[67] J. Jurasz, P.E. Campana. The potential of photovoltaic systems to reduce energy costs for office buildings in time-dependent and peak-load-dependent tariffs. Sustainable cities and society. 44 (2019) 871-9.

[68] N.R. Darghouth, G. Barbose, J. Zuboy, P.J. Gagnon, A.D. Mills, L. Bird. Demand charge savings from solar PV and energy storage. Energy Policy. 146 (2020) 111766.

[69] P. Ugwuoke, U. Agwunobi, A. Aliyu. Renewable energy as a climate change mitigation strategy in Nigeria. International Journal of Environmental Sciences. 3 (2012) 11.

[70] J. Olatomiwa Lanre. Optimal planning and design of hybrid renewable energy system for rural healthcare facilities/Olatomiwa Lanre Joseph. University of Malaya2016.

[71] L.M. Halabi, S. Mekhilef. Performance Analysis of Multi-Photovoltaic (PV)-Grid Tied Plant in Malaysia. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science. IOP Publishing2018. p. 012013.

[72] M.S. Vasisht, J. Srinivasan, S.K. Ramasesha. Performance of solar photovoltaic installations: Effect of seasonal variations. Solar Energy. 131 (2016) 39-46.

[73] R. Sharma, S. Goel. Performance analysis of a 11.2 kWp roof top grid-connected PV system in Eastern India. Energy Reports. 3 (2017) 76-84.

[74] K.Y. Kebede. Viability study of grid-connected solar PV system in Ethiopia. Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments. 10 (2015) 63-70.

[75] D.A. Quansah, M.S. Adaramola, G.K. Appiah, I.A. Edwin. Performance analysis of different grid-connected solar photovoltaic (PV) system technologies with combined capacity of 20 kW located in humid tropical climate. International Journal of hydrogen energy. 42 (2017) 4626-35.
[76] A.K. Shukla, K. Sudhakar, P. Baredar. Simulation and performance analysis of 110 kWp grid-connected photovoltaic system for residential building in India: A comparative analysis of various PV technology. Energy Reports. 2 (2016) 82-8.

[77] A.D. Adam, G. Apaydin. Grid connected solar photovoltaic system as a tool for green house gas emission reduction in Turkey. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 53 (2016) 1086-91.
[78] D.D. Milosavljević, T.M. Pavlović, D.S. Piršl. Performance analysis of A grid-connected solar PV plant in Niš, republic of Serbia. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 44 (2015) 423-35.
[79] K. Attari, A. Elyaakoubi, A. Asselman. Performance analysis and investigation of a grid-

connected photovoltaic installation in Morocco. Energy Reports. 2 (2016) 261-6.

[80] M.A. Ramli, A. Hiendro, K. Sedraoui, S. Twaha. Optimal sizing of grid-connected photovoltaic energy system in Saudi Arabia. Renewable Energy. 75 (2015) 489-95.

[81] N. Manoj Kumar, K. Sudhakar, M. Samykano. Techno-economic analysis of 1 MWp grid connected solar PV plant in Malaysia. International Journal of Ambient Energy. 40 (2019) 434-43.
[82] M. Mpholo, T. Nchaba, M. Monese. Yield and performance analysis of the first grid-connected solar farm at Moshoeshoe I International Airport, Lesotho. Renewable energy. 81 (2015) 845-52.
[83] C.E.B.E. Sidi, M.L. Ndiaye, M. El Bah, A. Mbodji, A. Ndiaye, P.A. Ndiaye. Performance analysis of the first large-scale (15 MWp) grid-connected photovoltaic plant in Mauritania. Energy conversion and management. 119 (2016) 411-21.

[84] L.C. de Lima, L. de Araújo Ferreira, F.H.B. de Lima Morais. Performance analysis of a grid connected photovoltaic system in northeastern Brazil. Energy for Sustainable Development. 37 (2017) 79-85.

[85] S. Edalati, M. Ameri, M. Iranmanesh, H. Tarmahi, M. Gholampour. Technical and economic assessments of grid-connected photovoltaic power plants: Iran case study. Energy. 114 (2016) 923-34.

[86] C. Li, D. Zhou, Y. Zheng. Techno-economic comparative study of grid-connected PV power systems in five climate zones, China. Energy. 165 (2018) 1352-69.

[87] H.A. Kazem, M. Albadi, A.H. Al-Waeli, A.H. Al-Busaidi, M.T. Chaichan. Techno-economic feasibility analysis of 1 MW photovoltaic grid connected system in Oman. Case studies in thermal engineering. 10 (2017) 131-41.

[88] N.M. Kumar, K. Sudhakar, M. Samykano. Performance comparison of BAPV and BIPV systems with c-Si, CIS and CdTe photovoltaic technologies under tropical weather conditions. Case Studies in Thermal Engineering. 13 (2019) 100374.

[89] A.M. Khalid, I. Mitra, W. Warmuth, V. Schacht. Performance ratio–Crucial parameter for grid connected PV plants. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 65 (2016) 1139-58.

[90] J. Leloux, L. Narvarte, D. Trebosc. Review of the performance of residential PV systems in Belgium. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 16 (2012) 178-84.

[91] F. Cherfa, A.H. Arab, R. Oussaid, K. Abdeladim, S. Bouchakour. Performance analysis of the mini-grid connected photovoltaic system at Algiers. Energy Procedia. 83 (2015) 226-36.

[92] M. Hussin, A. Omar, Z. Zain, S. Shaari. Performance of grid-connected photovoltaic system in equatorial rainforest fully humid climate of Malaysia. Int J Appl Power Eng(IJAPE). 2 (2013) 105-14.

[93] H.A. Kazem, M.T. Chaichan, A.H. Al-Waeli, K. Sopian. Evaluation of aging and performance of grid-connected photovoltaic system northern Oman: Seven years' experimental study. Solar Energy. 207 (2020) 1247-58.

[94] K. Padmavathi, S.A. Daniel. Performance analysis of a 3 MWp grid connected solar photovoltaic power plant in India. Energy for Sustainable Development. 17 (2013) 615-25.
[95] S. Mau, U. Jahn. Performance analysis of grid-connected PV systems. 21st EUPVSEC. (2006) 2676-80.

[96] B.S. Kumar, K. Sudhakar. Performance evaluation of 10 MW grid connected solar photovoltaic power plant in India. Energy reports. 1 (2015) 184-92.

[97] R. Srivastava, A. Tiwari, V. Giri. An overview on performance of PV plants commissioned at different places in the world. Energy for Sustainable Development. 54 (2020) 51-9.

[98] R.H. Chaudhari, B.H. Chaudhari, P.D. Chavda, V.L. Aal. To study the temporal variation of capacity utilization factor (CUF) of PV based solar power plant with respect to climatic condition. Current World Environment. 11 (2016) 654.

[99] V. Boddapati, S.A. Daniel. Performance analysis and investigations of grid-connected Solar Power Park in Kurnool, South India. Energy for Sustainable Development. 55 (2020) 161-9.[100] S. Sreenath, K. Sudhakar, A. Yusop, E. Solomin, I. Kirpichnikova. Solar PV energy system in

Malaysian airport: Glare analysis, general design and performance assessment. Energy Reports. 6 (2020) 698-712.

[101] J.M. Xavier. Performance Analysis of a PV Grid-connected System at the Universidade Nacional Timor Lorosa'e. (2019).

[102] Z. Corba, B. Popadic, D. Milicevic, B. Dumnic, V.A. Katic. A Long-Term Condition Monitoring and Performance Assessment of Grid Connected PV Power Plant with High Power Sizing Factor under Partial Shading Conditions. Energies. 13 (2020) 4810.

[103] P. Ramanan, A. Karthick. Performance analysis and energy metrics of grid-connected photovoltaic systems. Energy for Sustainable Development. 52 (2019) 104-15.

[104] M. Theristis, V. Venizelou, G. Makrides, G.E. Georghiou. Energy yield in photovoltaic systems. McEvoy's Handbook of Photovoltaics. Elsevier2018. pp. 671-713.

[105] K. Vidyanandan. An overview of factors affecting the performance of solar PV systems. Energy Scan. 27 (2017) 2-8.

[106] L. Ayompe, A. Duffy, S. McCormack, M. Conlon. Measured performance of a 1.72 kW rooftop grid connected photovoltaic system in Ireland. Energy conversion and management. 52 (2011) 816-25.

[107] S. Edalati, M. Ameri, M. Iranmanesh. Comparative performance investigation of mono-and poly-crystalline silicon photovoltaic modules for use in grid-connected photovoltaic systems in dry climates. Applied Energy. 160 (2015) 255-65.

[108] F. Tahri, A. Tahri, T. Oozeki. Performance evaluation of grid-connected photovoltaic systems based on two photovoltaic module technologies under tropical climate conditions. Energy Conversion and Management. 165 (2018) 244-52.

[109] M. Ansong, L.D. Mensah, M.S. Adaramola. Techno-economic analysis of a hybrid system to power a mine in an off-grid area in Ghana. Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments. 23 (2017) 48-56.

[110] X. Zhang, M. Li, Y. Ge, G. Li. Techno-economic feasibility analysis of solar photovoltaic power generation for buildings. Applied Thermal Engineering. 108 (2016) 1362-71.

[111] T. Nacer, A. Hamidat, O. Nadjemi, M. Bey. Feasibility study of grid connected photovoltaic system in family farms for electricity generation in rural areas. Renewable Energy. 96 (2016) 305-18.

[112] G. Dalton, D. Lockington, T. Baldock. Feasibility analysis of renewable energy supply options for a grid-connected large hotel. Renewable energy. 34 (2009) 955-64.

[113] R.B. Kristiawan, I. Widiastuti, S. Suharno. Technical and economical feasibility analysis of photovoltaic power installation on a university campus in indonesia. MATEC Web of Conferences. EDP Sciences2018. p. 08012.

[114] S. Rehman, M. Ahmed, M.H. Mohamed, F.A. Al-Sulaiman. Feasibility study of the grid connected 10 MW installed capacity PV power plants in Saudi Arabia. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 80 (2017) 319-29.

[115] S. Sinha, S. Chandel. Review of software tools for hybrid renewable energy systems. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 32 (2014) 192-205.

[116] O. Rabaza, J. Contreras-Montes, M. García-Ruiz, F. Delgado-Ramos, D. Gómez-Lorente. Techno-economic performance evaluation for olive mills powered by grid-connected photovoltaic systems. Energies. 8 (2015) 11939-54.

[117] O.H. Mohammed, Y. Amirat, M. Benbouzid, G. Feld, T. Tang, A. Elbast. Optimal design of a stand-alone hybrid PV/fuel cell power system for the city of Brest in France. International Journal on Energy Conversion. 2 (2014) 1-7.

[118] M.S. Adaramola, M. Agelin-Chaab, S.S. Paul. Analysis of hybrid energy systems for application in southern Ghana. Energy Conversion and Management. 88 (2014) 284-95.

[119] U.S. Kumar, P. Manoharan. Economic analysis of hybrid power systems (PV/diesel) in different climatic zones of Tamil Nadu. Energy Conversion and Management. 80 (2014) 469-76.
[120] M.S. Islam. A techno-economic feasibility analysis of hybrid renewable energy supply options for a grid-connected large office building in southeastern part of France. Sustainable cities and society. 38 (2018) 492-508.

[121] A. Singh, P. Baredar, B. Gupta. Techno-economic feasibility analysis of hydrogen fuel cell and solar photovoltaic hybrid renewable energy system for academic research building. Energy Conversion and Management. 145 (2017) 398-414.

[122] E.C. Obuah, T.-O.J. Alalibo. Techno-Economic Analysis of Hybrid Photovoltaic/Diesel Energy System for Oil and Gas Industries in Nigeria.

[123] N.M. Isa, H.S. Das, C.W. Tan, A. Yatim, K.Y. Lau. A techno-economic assessment of a combined heat and power photovoltaic/fuel cell/battery energy system in Malaysia hospital. Energy. 112 (2016) 75-90.

[124] S. Zhang, P. Huang, Y. Sun. A multi-criterion renewable energy system design optimization for net zero energy buildings under uncertainties. Energy. 94 (2016) 654-65.

[125] G. Dalton, D. Lockington, T. Baldock. Case study feasibility analysis of renewable energy supply options for small to medium-sized tourist accommodations. Renewable Energy. 34 (2009) 1134-44.

[126] R. Srivastava, V.K. Giri. Optimization of hybrid renewable resources using HOMER. International Journal of Renewable Energy Research (IJRER). 6 (2016) 157-63.

[127] Climate Data for Cities Worldwide, https://en.climate-data.org/; 2020 [accessed 4 June 2020].

[128] Global Solar Atlas,

https://globalsolaratlas.info/map?r=MYS:MYS.15_1&c=3.379082,100.426025,9 ; 2020; [accessed 4 June 2020].

[129] S. Sundaram, J.S.C. Babu. Performance evaluation and validation of 5 MWp grid connected solar photovoltaic plant in South India. Energy conversion and management. 100 (2015) 429-39.
[130] E. Pinheiro, F. Bandeiras, M. Gomes, P. Coelho, J. Fernandes. Performance analysis of wind generators and PV systems in industrial small-scale applications. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 110 (2019) 392-401.

[131] M. Santhakumari, N. Sagar. A review of the environmental factors degrading the performance of silicon wafer-based photovoltaic modules: Failure detection methods and essential mitigation techniques. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 110 (2019) 83-100.

[132] S.E.D.A. Malaysia. SEDA MALAYSIA GRID-CONNECTED PV SYSTEM COURSE DESIGN2016.

[133] L.D. Mensah, J.O. Yamoah, M.S. Adaramola. Performance evaluation of a utility-scale gridtied solar photovoltaic (PV) installation in Ghana. Energy for sustainable development. 48 (2019) 82-7.

[134] V. Sharma, S. Chandel. Performance analysis of a 190 kWp grid interactive solar photovoltaic power plant in India. Energy. 55 (2013) 476-85.

[135] E. Kymakis, S. Kalykakis, T.M. Papazoglou. Performance analysis of a grid connected photovoltaic park on the island of Crete. Energy Conversion and Management. 50 (2009) 433-8.
[136] 2017 CDM ELECTRICITY BASELINE FOR MALAYSIA. Malaysian Green Technology Corporation, Malaysia, 2017.

[137] T. Lambert, P. Gilman, P. Lilienthal. Micropower system modeling with HOMER. Integration of alternative sources of energy. 1 (2006) 379-85.

[138] HOMER Pro Software National Renewable Energy Laboratory's (NREL),

https://wwwhomerenergycom/products/pro/indexhtml. (2019).

[139] HOMER Help Manual. http://wwwhomerenergycom/pdf/HOMERHelpManualpdf.
[140] H. Sharma, É. Monnier, G. Mandil, P. Zwolinski, S. Colasson. Comparison of environmental assessment methodology in hybrid energy system simulation software. Procedia CIRP. 80 (2019) 221-7.

[141] O.P. Mahela, A.G. Shaik. Comprehensive overview of grid interfaced solar photovoltaic systems. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 68 (2017) 316-32.

[142] E.F. Fernández, D. Talavera, F.M. Almonacid, G.P. Smestad. Investigating the impact of weather variables on the energy yield and cost of energy of grid-connected solar concentrator systems. Energy. 106 (2016) 790-801.

[143] A. Allouhi, R. Saadani, M. Buker, T. Kousksou, A. Jamil, M. Rahmoune. Energetic, economic and environmental (3E) analyses and LCOE estimation of three technologies of PV grid-connected systems under different climates. Solar Energy. 178 (2019) 25-36.

[144] M.F. Khan, M.S. Islam, S. Islam. Effect of Variation of Solar irradiance on the Inverter Output for a Grid connected PV system. 2019 International Conference on Energy and Power Engineering (ICEPE). IEEE2019. pp. 1-4.

[145] M. Farhoodnea, A. Mohamed, T. Khatib, W. Elmenreich. Performance evaluation and characterization of a 3-kWp grid-connected photovoltaic system based on tropical field experimental results: new results and comparative study. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 42 (2015) 1047-54.

[146] S. Seme, K. Sredenšek, B. Štumberger, M. Hadžiselimović. Analysis of the performance of photovoltaic systems in Slovenia. Solar Energy. 180 (2019) 550-8.

[147] M. Emmanuel, D. Akinyele, R. Rayudu. Techno-economic analysis of a 10 kWp utility interactive photovoltaic system at Maungaraki school, Wellington, New Zealand. Energy. 120 (2017) 573-83.

[148] K. Sopian, S. Shaari, N. Amin, R. Zulkifli, M.N.A. Rahman. Performance of a grid-connected photovoltaic system in Malaysia. Int J Eng Technol. 4 (2007) 57-65.

[149] M. Arnaout, G.Y. Ii. Performance Evaluation of a Building Integrated PV (BIPV) at Heriot-Watt University Malaysia. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science. IOP Publishing2019. p. 012055.

[150] Y. Su, L.-C. Chan, L. Shu, K.-L. Tsui. Real-time prediction models for output power and efficiency of grid-connected solar photovoltaic systems. Applied energy. 93 (2012) 319-26.

[151] D. Trillo-Montero, I. Santiago, J. Luna-Rodriguez, R. Real-Calvo. Development of a software application to evaluate the performance and energy losses of grid-connected photovoltaic systems. Energy conversion and management. 81 (2014) 144-59.

[152] A. Chouder, S. Silvestre. Automatic supervision and fault detection of PV systems based on power losses analysis. Energy conversion and Management. 51 (2010) 1929-37.

[153] K. Mudgil, R.K. Yadav, G. Tiwari. Performance evaluation of 12 kWP rooftop gridconnected photovoltaic plant installed under net metering in Delhi, India. International Journal of Ambient Energy. (2019) 1-7.

[154] M.H. Banda, K. Nyeinga, D. Okello. Performance evaluation of 830 kWp grid-connected photovoltaic power plant at Kamuzu International Airport-Malawi. Energy for Sustainable Development. 51 (2019) 50-5.

[155] M.E.H. Jed, R. Ihaddadene, N. Ihaddadene, C.E.E. Sidi, M.E. Bah. Performance analysis of 954,809 kWp PV array of Sheikh Zayed solar power plant (Nouakchott, Mauritania). Renewable Energy Focus. 32 (2020) 45-54.

[156] D.H. Daher, L. Gaillard, M. Amara, C. Ménézo. Impact of tropical desert maritime climate on the performance of a PV grid-connected power plant. Renewable energy. 125 (2018) 729-37.

[157] E. Elibol, Ö.T. Özmen, N. Tutkun, O. Köysal. Outdoor performance analysis of different PV panel types. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 67 (2017) 651-61.

[158] C. Correa-Betanzo, H. Calleja, S. De León-Aldaco. Module temperature models assessment of photovoltaic seasonal energy yield. Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments. 27 (2018) 9-16.

[159] https://countryeconomy.com/key-rates/malaysia. 2020.

[160] https://www.ceicdata.com/en/malaysia/discount-rates. 2020.

[161] M.A. AL MATIN, S. TAKEDA, Y. TANAKA, S. SAKURAI, T. TEZUKA. LCOE Analysis

for Grid-Connected PV Systems of Utility Scale Across Selected ASEAN Countries. Retrieved from

Jakarta2019.

[162] C.K.G. CheiwYun Lau1, Pi Hua Tan1,2. EVALUATION OF SOLAR PHOTOVOLTAIC LEVELIZED COST OF ENERGY FOR PV GRID PARITY ANALYSISIN MALAYSIA. International Journalof Renewable Energy Resources. (2014).

[163] B. Lumby. Utility-Scale Solar Photovoltaic Power Plants. International Finance Corporation (World Bank Group), Washington DC. (2015).

[164] A.M. Humada, M. Hojabri, H.M. Hamada, F.B. Samsuri, M.N. Ahmed. Performance evaluation of two PV technologies (c-Si and CIS) for building integrated photovoltaic based on tropical climate condition: A case study in Malaysia. Energy and Buildings. 119 (2016) 233-41.
[165] M.E. Ya'acob, H. Hizam, T. Khatib, M.A.M. Radzi. A comparative study of three types of grid connected photovoltaic systems based on actual performance. Energy Conversion and Management. 78 (2014) 8-13.

[166] P. Satsangi, S.B. GS, A. Saxena. Performance analysis of grid interactive solar photovoltaic plant in India. Energy for sustainable development. 47 (2018) 9-16.

[167] A.N. Akpolat, E. Dursun, A.E. Kuzucuoğlu, Y. Yang, F. Blaabjerg, A.F. Baba. Performance Analysis of a Grid-Connected Rooftop Solar Photovoltaic System. Electronics. 8 (2019) 905.
[168] M.A. Mahieddine Emziane. Performance assessment of rooftop PV systems in Abu Dhabi. Energy and buildings. 108 (2015).

[169] F. Li. Optimization-based cost saving with demand-side management (DSM) in a residential microgrid. Arizona State University2018.

[170] G. Subramani, V. K Ramachandaramurthy, P. Sanjeevikumar, J.B. Holm-Nielsen, F. Blaabjerg, L. Zbigniew, et al. Techno-economic optimization of grid-connected photovoltaic (PV) and battery systems based on maximum demand reduction (MDRED) modelling in Malaysia. Energies. 12 (2019) 3531.

[171] A.H. Al-Waeli, K. Sopian, H.A. Kazem, M.T. Chaichan. Nanofluid based grid connected PV/T systems in Malaysia: A techno-economical assessment. Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments. 28 (2018) 81-95.

[172] M. Obeng, S. Gyamfi, N.S. Derkyi, A.T. Kabo-bah, F. Peprah. Technical and economic feasibility of a 50 MW grid-connected solar PV at UENR Nsoatre Campus. Journal of Cleaner Production. 247 (2020) 119159.

[173] O. Ayadi, R. Al-Assad, J. Al Asfar. Techno-economic assessment of a grid connected photovoltaic system for the University of Jordan. Sustainable cities and society. 39 (2018) 93-8.